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FRENCH, SPANISH AND

ENGLISH CLAIMS




 




DATING from the first settlements

along the Atlantic coast and the Gulf of Mexico, there arose among the warring,

envious and ambitious nations of Europe conflicting claims to the ownership of

American soil. Regardless of water courses, river basins or rival claims, the

English colonies along the Atlantic claimed an extension of their territorial

grants westward on parallels of latitude to the South Sea, as the Pacific ocean

was then called. On the contrary, both France and Spain, upon discovering a

river and forming a settlement on its lower course, claimed the entire valley

of that stream, regardless of rights or claims on the upper courses. Thus the

French at the start claimed the whole St. Lawrence valley, which included the

Great Lakes and the tract now known as Cook county, Illinois. By the discovery

of Columbus in 1492, Spain could claim all of the two Americas. The discovery

of North America by Cabot in 1498 gave England a claim to that country. In 1603

France granted to De Chartes a strip from forty to forty-six degrees north

latitude and extending westward across the continent; this included Cook

county. In 1606 an English grant extended across North America between

thirty-four and forty five degrees north latitude. The London colony grant was

between thirty-four and forty-five degrees north latitude. The Plymouth colony

grant by James I., on November 3, 1620, embraced the country from the Atlantic

to the South Sea (Pacific Ocean) and from the fortieth to the forty-eighth

degree of north latitude. On August 10, 1622, the Council of Plymouth granted

to Mason and Georges much of what is now Vermont, New Hampshire and a part of

Maine. What is now Connecticut was included in the Plymouth colony grant of

1620. The present state of Illinois was claimed as a part of Florida and was so

laid down on the old Spanish maps. This claim was confirmed by Pope Alexander

VI, who granted Ferdinand and Isabella in perpetuity all the land they had

discovered, or should thereafter discover, west of an imaginary line drawn from

north to south one hundred leagues west of the European shores. Thus the

westward extension of the English colonial grants, as claimed, likewise

embraced Cook county. The Atlantic colonists, with a persistence that demands

admiration, continued to claim this westward extension until the formation of

the Northwest territory. Thus at first the swollen and ephemeral claims of the

English, the Spanish and the French to the tract of territory now known as Cook

county, Illinois, may be said to have been about equal in points both of

unsoundness and uncertainty. 




But the French, with greater

energy and envy, perfected their claims to the soil here, while the English and

the Spanish did not, and therefore France, be it said to the credit of her

martyrs, became the first white owner of what is now Illinois and therefore

Cook county. But this splendid result was as much due to individual enterprise,

the undaunted spirit of adventure and the self-sacrificing proselyting efforts

of the Catholic fathers as to the colonizing ambition of the French government.

At that date the servile and erratic French people were more the tools and

puppets of royalty than the people of any other country except Spain. They

yielded a blind and unquestioning obedience to the empty mandates of their

butterfly sovereign, mainly because Church and State were united; and to

question the acts of the King was tantamount to an assault, not only on the

State, but on religion itself. Thus the idle and indifferent wish of the King,

announced by his paramours through the Governor of New France, as Canada was

then called, was sufficient to send into the Western wilderness, among savage

beasts and little less savage men, such heroic souls as Nicolet, Perrot,

Joliet, Marquette, Moreau, Durantaye, Duluth, La Salle, Tonty, Hennepin,

Allouez and scores of others, who gladly at the King's behest offered

themselves to martyrdom for the glory of France. It seems that the word

Chicagou, or Chicago as it is now written, had a meaning among the Indians and

the French explorers and missionaries equivalent to the English words great,

strong, mighty, superior, etc., signifying some unusual and notable quality in

the object to which it was applied. The term may have included the idea of

water, though it is known to have been applied to individuals, to tracts of

country and to the wild onion growing throughout Northern Illinois. The pungent

odor of the onion — strong and unusual — probably led to this application of

the word. The mighty Mississippi, particularly its lower course, was designated

Checagou, variously spelled, by the tribes on its banks. At the time the bloody

expedition of De Soto reached the Mississippi river in 1539 he found the Chisca

(Chickasaw of a later date) nation of Indians, who called the Mississippi the

Chucagua and applied the same term to their entire province. In Franquelin's

large map of 1684 the Kankakee river is called Chekagou and the Chicago river

is called Cheagoumeman. In De Lisle's map of 1718 the present Des Plaines is

designated Chicagou, and so is a section of Lake Michigan, but his map of 1703

applies that term to the present Chicago river only. D'Anville in his map of

1755 calls the Des Plaines the Chicagou and also a section of Lake Michigan by

the same name. In Mitchell's map of 1755 the present Chicago river is named

river and port of Chicagou. In Popple's map of 1733 the Chigagou is mentioned,

but clearly referred to the St. Joseph, where Fort Miami was located and an

Indian village called Chigagou stood. On La Houton's map of 1703 a deep bay

south of Chicago is called Chegakou and the Chicago portage is called the same.

In Charlevoix's map of 1774 the term Checagou seems to apply to a portion of

Lake Michigan. In Senex's map of 1710 the Chicago river is not shown, but the

term Checagou is plainly applied to a village of the Mascoutens or Kickapoos,

or both, located on the present site of down-town Chicago. Moll's map of 1720

names only the Checagou portage. It is probable that Lake Michigan or its

southern extremity may have been called Chicagou by the Indians. Hennepin in

his erratic account of La Salle's expedition in 1782 said in a caption,

"An account of the building of a new fort named by us Fort Crevecoeur, on

the river of the Illinois named by the savages Che-cau-gou." In his map of

1684, Franqulin (probably by mistake) calls the Ohio river the "River St.

Louis or Chucagoa." Thus the St. Louis, whatever stream it may have been,

was known as Chucagoa. Coxe in his map of Louisiana calls the Illinois the

Chicagou. Samson's map of 1673 styles the Mississippi the Chicagua. In Margry's

map (1679) the Grand Calumet is called Chekagoue. Father Membre, who

accompanied La Salle in 1681-82, says they "went toward the Divine river

(Illinois), called by the Indians Checaugou." La Salle says (1681-82) that

they arrived at "the division line called Chicagua, from the river of the

same name which lies in the country of the Mascoutens." This was the Des

Plaines. The head chief of the Illinois was Checaqua, named thus because he was

great, mighty, powerful, strong. The name is variously spelled Chikagu,

Chekagou, Chicagu, Chicague, Checagou, Checaqua, Chicagou, Checaugou, Chucagoa,

Chucagua, Chigogoe, etc. Even as late as the treaty of Greenville, held August

3, 1795, there was manifest confusion as to what had been located on the

Chicago river and what not. By that treaty the Indians ceded to the United

States "one piece of land six miles square at the mouth of the Chicago

river, emptying into the southwest end of Lake Michigan where a fort formerly

stood." The latter clause very likely refers to the fort that stood on St.

Joseph river formerly called Chicagou. It is clear that, owing to the fact that

several streams were really called Chicagou by the Indians and therefore by the

whites, the distant mapmakers themselves became confused when they attempted to

locate forts, villages or circumstances thereon. The old Indian name of the

Calumet was spelled Killimick or Calamick; the Kankakee was spelled Teatika. 




An important reference to Chicago

was made by Governor Rocheblave of Illinois in 1783. At that time he was

fighting to have his claims for losses during the Revolution made good by the

British government at Quebec. He stated he wanted his claims allowed at once as

he had to go from Quebec to "find Madame Rocheblave and the rest of the

family at Chikagou." It is known that his family were still at Kaskaskia.

Thus the reference was not to the present Chicago. It must have been either to

the western country as a whole, or to the Mississippi or Illinois river

settlements in particular. 




In 1721 an English commission,

having explored the Western country, reported, among other findings, that

"from the Lake Huron they pass by the Strait Michillimackinack four

leagues, being two in breadth and of great depth, to the Lake Illinoise

(Michigan), thence 150 leagues on the lake to Fort Miamis. situated on the

mouth of the river Chicagoe. From thence come those Indians of the same name,

viz.: Miamis, who are settled on the aforementioned river (Maumee, formerly

Miami) that runs into Lake Erie. Up the river Chicagoe, they sail but three

leagues to a passage of one-fourth of a league, then enter a small lake of

about a mile and have another very small portage, and again another of two

miles to the river Illinois (Kankakee), thence down the stream 130 leagues to

the Mississippi." This must have been the river referred to in 1699 by St.

Cosme when he wrote that on a trip to the Illinois country he found the Miamis

at Chicagou, where there was already a mission under Fathers Pinet and

Bineteau. Neither at that time nor at any time were the Miamis located

permanently on the present Chicago river, but they were on the St. Joseph, then

called Chicagou, where there was a mission and a fort. Charlevoix writes:

"All having promised to send deputies there, he proceeded to the Western

quarters; but turned south and went to Chicagou at the lower end of Lake

Michigan, where the Miamis then were." He spoke of it as a place and not

as a river. This visit must have been made to the St. Joseph river, called

Chicagou, where the Miamis were, and not to the present Chicago river. Shea, in

a footnote to Charlevoix's account, says that Perrot went no farther than Green

Bay, because the Miamis were not then at Chicago; but Shea apparently did not

know that St. Joseph river was early called Chicagou, and that therefore the

Charlevoix account was consistent, Perrot's visit being to the Miamis on St.

Joseph river. Shea seemed to think that because the Miamis were not then at the

present Chicago river, Perrot could not have made the visit as narrated by

Charlevoix. But there are too many particulars mentioned to warrant any doubt

that Perrot at this time really visited the Miamis on St. Joseph, and probably

was the first white man to look upon the present Cook county. The Miami head

chief then was too old to attend the proposed general assembly of the Western

tribes, but he empowered the Pottawatomies to represent him and his tribe on

that occasion. This assembly was held at Sault St. Mary in May, 1671. Perrot

did not visit the Mascouten, Kickapoo or Illinois tribes at this time — why, it

is not known. 




Joliet and Marqnette were

probably the first white men actually to traverse the present Chicago river;

this was in July, 1673, on the return trip from their first visit to the

Mississippi. The fact is certain, but the route traversed is somewhat doubtful;

ii may have been the Calumet or Stony creek route. The description fits the

Calumet river as well or better than the Chicago river, and one writer, at

least, Albert D. Hagar, has argued with much force and plausibility that they

must have passed over the former route. However, both routes were within the

present limits of Cook county. In December, 1674, Marquette again passed over

the same" route, whether it was by the Calumet or the Chicago river. From

the 4th to the 12th of December, he and his companions spent the time at the

mouth of the river killing game and getting ready to cross the portage. Deer

were abundant. There were eight or nine cabins of the Mascoutens near the mouth

of the river. With him, among others, were two Frenchmen named Pierre and

Jacques. After starting he stopped at a log cabin nearly five miles from the

mouth of Chicago or Calumet river. This hut was owned by two, traders — Pierre

Moreau (La Taupine) and a trader-surgeon, both of whom were temporarily absent,

though they returned as soon as they heard of the presence of Father Marquette.

The possible location of the cabin has been recently, though perhaps

erroneously, marked in the lumber district of Chicago. So far as known, this

rude house was the first white human habitation in what is now Cook county.

When it was built is unknown. Here Marquette remained the balance of the winter

— sick but patient, brave and contented with his lot, though death stared him

in the face. Mr. Hagar argues that the cabin stood on the Calumet route, but

recently writers and public opinion have placed it on the South Branch of the

Chicago river. 




Father Claude Allouez, who

succeeded Marquette in charge of the Illinois missions, and who came out in

1677, related that upon his arrival he was met at the mouth of the Chicagou

river by a large number of Illinois Indians, who conducted him to their

villages in the vicinity of the present Utica, Ill. This Chicagou river may

have been the St. Joseph, because in a subsequent visit he spoke of Chicagou

river and clearly meant the St. Joseph. He returned to Canada, but came out

again in 1678 and again in 1680 and 1684. the latter time with Durantaye, who

at this time built a fort at the mouth of the Chicagou river. The Chicagou

river here referred to must have been the St. Joseph, of Michigan, because

there is no evidence that Durantaye or any other person built a fort thus early

at the present Chicago, but a fort was built on the St. Joseph about 1784, and

Durantaye, the same year, was in command there. At this date Tonty commanded

Fort St. Louis at Starved Rock, Ill. 




In 1679 La Salle and a body of

Frenchmen passed southward along the western coast of Lake Michigan; visited

the Indians on Green Bay; continued past the present Cook county; admired the

beauty of the landscape; landed at the mouth of St. Joseph river; there built

Fort Miami, the first in the "Illinois country"; was there joined by

the faithful Tonty and more Frenchmen; passed with all up the St. Joseph to

about South Bend; then crossed the portage to the Kankakee river, down which

they moved, entering the Illinois, and finally built Fort Crevecreur near

Peoria, and later Fort St. Louis at Starved Rock. La Salle again came out in

1680 and 1681. The brave and skillful Tonty remained in the "Illinois

country." La Salle preferred the St. Joseph-Kankakee route — did not like

the Chicago portage recommended by Joliet — called it a ditch. For several

years he made Fort Miami a distributing point. A little later it was destroyed

by deserters from Fort Crevecoeur, but was rebuilt about 1784 by Durantaye, as

before stated. 




La Salle says in his

"Relations" concerning the Chicago portage: "This is an isthmus

of land of 41 degrees 50 minutes north latitude at the west of the Islinois

(Michigan) lake, which is reached by a channel (Chicago river) formed by the

junction of several rivulets or meadow ditches. It is navigable for about two

leagues (nearly five miles) to the edge of the prairie a quarter of a mile

westward. There is a little lake (Mud) divided by a causeway made by the

beavers, about a league and a half long, from which runs a stream which, after

winding about a half league through the rushes, empties into the river Chicagou

(Desplaines), and thence into that of the Islinois. This lake is filled by

heavy summer rains or spring freshets, and discharges also into the channel

which leads to the lake of the Islinois, the level of which is seven feet lower

than the prairie, on which is the lake. The river of Checagou (Desplaines) does

the same thing in the spring when its channel is full. It empties a part of its

waters by this little lake into that of the Islinois, and at this season,

Joliet says, forms in the summer time a little channel for a quarter of a

league from this lake to the basin which leads to the Islinois by which vessels

can enter the Chicagou (Desplaines) and descend to the sea." 




Father Zenobius Membre wrote of

La Salle's expedition: "On the 21st of December, 1681, I embarked with

Sieur de Tonty and a part of our people on Lake Dauphin (Michigan) to go to the

Divine river, called by the Indians Checagou (Kankakee and Illinois), in order

to make necessary arrangements for a voyage. The Sieur de la Salle joined us

here (probably at Fort Miami, on the St. Joseph river) with the rest of his

troop on January 4, 1682, and found that Tonty had had sleighs made to put all

on and carry over the Chicagou (Kankakee), which was frozen, for though the

winter in these parts is only two months long it is notwithstanding very

severe. We had to make a portage (near South Bend) to enter the Illinois river

(Kankakee), which we found also frozen. We made it on the 27th of the same

month, and dragging our canoes, baggage and provisions about eighty leagues on

the river Seigueley (Illinois), which runs into the river Colbert

(Mississippi), we passed the great Illinois towns (near Utica) without finding

any one there." 




St. Cosme wrote in 1699 that on

his journey to the Illinois country he passed up the Chicagou river and

"put up for the night about two leagues off on a little river which is

lost in the prairie." Very likely he put up at the cabin on the South

branch of the present Chicago river, perhaps previously occupied by Father

Marquette. The next day he "began on the portage, which is about three

leagues long (seven and one-fourth miles), when the water is low, and only a

quarter of a league in the spring, for the little lake in spring can be used,

but not when it is dry, to reach the Desplaines." 




The successes of the Iroquois

were not sufficient to extinguish the claims of France to the Illinois country.

The Illinois colony, particularly that portion on the Mississippi, continued to

receive many desirable settlers from both Canada and Louisiana. The vast grant

to La Salle in 1684 presumably included what is now Cook county, the language

being that his dominion should extend "from Fort St. Louis, on the

Illinois river, into New Biscay (Durango)." This must have meant all

included within the colony of Fort St. Louis, and if so, may be said to have

embraced Cook county, really an outlayer of that settlement. 




Prior to 1712 military law ruled

Louisiana, and therefore the Illinois colony, the latter being independent, but

attached to the former, which was a dependency of New France, or Canada. Tonty

was the first military commandant of the Illinois colony, and as such was both

chief constabulary and chief executive. His word was law, but he was

accountable to France for his conduct. It is not improbable that French cabins

and trading posts more or less continuously occupied the traversed portions of

Cook county, particularly at the spot on the South Branch, where stood the La

Taupine cabin, occupied by Marquette, or at the Calumet portage. Owing mainly

to the relentless incursions of the Iroquois, Fort St. Louis was abandoned in

1702, as it had previously been abandoned in 1680 by Tonty. Swine were probably

introduced into the Illinois colony before 1700; domestic cattle were brought

here in 1711. By 1700 scores of Frenchmen and missionaries began to pass

between Canada and Louisiana, often by the Chicago route, when it could be done

in safety. Hardy French traders and devoted missionaries were at this date

living with all the western tribes. The Illinois country began to send down the

Mississippi boat loads of flour, meal, pork, beef, hides, furs, etc. Already it

was famous in Canada and France for the beautiful scenery, temperate climate,

rich soil and velvet plains teeming with wild game. 




After the grant of Louisiana

colony to Anthony Crozat, in 1712, the Illinois country became a part of

Louisiana and the latter remained, as before, a dependency of Canada. The grant

was for fifteen years; it lasted but two. Crozat was succeeded as Governor of

Louisiana by Cadillac in 1714, and he by L'Espinay in 1717. From 1712 to 1725

the Illinois country enjoyed a period of pleasing growth and prosperity.

Numerous boats with thousands of colonists, traders, voyagers, missionaries and

adventurers passed back and forth over the waters between Canada and Louisiana,

the Chicago route getting, no doubt, its share of the travel. The building of

Fort Chartres in 1720, on the east side of the Mississippi below St. Louis by

D'Boisbriant rendered the colony safe for women and firmly and permanently

established French settlements in the Illinois country. There sprang up

immediately in that vicinity the happy and prosperous settlements of Prairie de

Rocher, St. Philippi and Cahokia. The Sulpetians built at Cahokia a water-mill

— saw and flour. The Western Company, which succeeded Crozat in control of

Louisiana and therefore of the Illinois colony, conducted a large warehouse at

Fort Chartres. The fort gave absolute security to the inhabitants and blocked

any attempt of the English to gain a foothold on the Upper Mississippi. The

Western Company took the grant of Louisiana (including the Illinois colony and

Cook county) for twenty-five years — 1718 to 1742. 




At the commencement of the Seven

Years' War the French held actual possession of the Mississippi, though the

English claimed ownership to its banks at the south and also at the north, in

the valley of the Ohio. The French had settlements and forts at St. Joseph, Mich.,

and along the Wabash, the Illinois and the Mississippi, with the impregnable

Fort Chartres, just built, to guard the upper courses of the latter. They had

also captured Fort Duquesne at Pittsburg, and thus practically held possession

of all the territory west of the Appalachians. The English prepared to assault

at four quarters along the northern and western borders. In the Illinois

country were 300 French soldiers. Captain Villiers, in 1754, was sent from Fort

Chartres with a detachment to assist the force at Fort Duquesne, upon which, it

was seen, the first blow would fall. War on a large scale and in earnest, with

all the accompaniments of savage barbarity, was now to settle the long and

vexatious controversy as to the ownership of American soil, including what is

now Illinois. 




In 1757 Governor De Kerlerec, of

Louisiana, formulated his design of uniting the tribes of the Mississippi,

combining them with available French forces, and marching on the Atlantic

colonies, in order to divert them from the projected attack on Canada. It was

wisely concluded that while the British forces were engaged elsewhere, the

French could cut the colonies in two down the Potomac valley, and thus, with an

attack in their rear, force the English from concentrating against Canada; but

the French court was too impotent to take advantage of this plan, and

accordingly General Wolfe came from the Plains of Abraham with a splendid

victory. However, the English, under Braddock, were terribly defeated near

Pittsburg, mainly by the French and Indians under Capt. Charles D'Aubrey, of

Fort Chartres. Had such success been quickly followed, as it should have been,

by all the French and Indian power of the West, and further been followed by a

prompt advance down the Potomac valley, history might have assumed an

altogether different finality. The Illinois country might have remained to

France, and hence could not have been won by the Colonies in the Revolution. In

that case what is now Cook county, Illinois, might have remained a dependency of

France. The latter might not have joined the Colonies in their struggle for

independence. Indeed, the Colonies might not have won their independence, or,

if they had, might not have obtained the western country, including Cook

county. 




Capt. Thomas Sterling, on behalf

of the British, took possession of Fort Chartres and the Illinois country on

October 10, 1765, and remained in command until Maj. Robert Farmer took charge

in December, 1765. The latter was succeeded by Col. Edward Cole in 1766, and he

by Colonel Reed in 1768. From September 5, 1768, until March 30, 1772, Lieut.

Col. John Wilkins, of the Eighteenth or Royal Regiment (British), was military

commandant of the fort and the Illinois country, but at the latter date he was

succeeded by acting Maj. Robert Hamilton from Fort Pitt. On June 11, 1772,

Hamilton was relieved by Capt. Hugh Lord. The latter had two companies of

infantry and three artillerymen and remained in command until May 1. 1776, when

he and the most of his troops were recalled to Canada, leaving the Illinois

country exposed to the attacks of savages. Called away thus hurriedly Captain

Lord turned over the fort, the country and his own family to Phillippe Francais

de Rastel, Chevalier de Richeblave, who in the end proved to be the last of the

British commandants to govern or control the Illinois country. Rocheblave.

without troops money or official authority, acquitted himself with signal

distinction until the country was captured by Col. George Rogers Clark, in

July. 1778. Doubtless Rocheblave was left in command because he was acceptable

to the French residents. He certainly had the confidence of Captain Lord, who

left his family with him; nor was that confidence misplaced. In all the arduous

trials of the Revolutionary period Rocheblave. though beset with dangers and

enormous expenses, proved faithful to his pledge to Captain Lord and to his

office under the British. 




From 1765 to 1768 the Illinois

country, though included within the jurisdiction of Canada, seems to have had

no regular form of government except that of the commandant's court; but on

Nov. 12, 1768, General Gage ordered a change. Commissions equivalent to those

of justices of the peace were granted to seven of the residents, French and

English, of the Illinois country. They were constituted a court with

jurisdiction in all cases of debt, but no jury was provided for. It was called

the "Court of Enquiry," and seems to have been dominated by "The

Company," a mercantile institution of Kaskaskia. "The Company"

was composed of Boynton, Wharton and Morgan, the latter of whom was president

of the "Court of Enquiry." The proceedings of the court were

unsatisfactory to the French inhabitants and a small rebellion resulted. The

inhabitants wanted the "Court of Enquiry" to be conducted by the

military commandant and not by "The Company." 




Rocheblave, a Frenchman himself,

though satisfactory to the French residents, proved unsatisfactory to the

English inhabitants. Though as a whole faithful to the cause of Great Britain,

he was partial to the French residents as against the English. Several English

traders on the Illinois river, probably at Peoria, petitioned against him to

Sir Guy Carleton, commander in chief of Canada. It was declared that he

trampled on their liberties, despised the English and their laws, acted as both

counsel and judge, traded liquor to the Indians against his own orders,

required a servile submission; yet. although these charges were probably true,

it cannot be denied that he showed great skill in keeping the savages in

subjection without troops, meeting the emergencies in his trying position

without money or resources; keeping the Spanish, whose language and intentions

he knew, from taking possession of the country, and outwitting the rebellious

colonists until he was captured by Colonel Clark. Generally, his course was

satisfactory to the English authorities, and his acts were approved. He made

his headquarters at Fort Gage. Kaskaskia. Had Captain Lord and the two

companies of troops not been sent away at the commencement of the Revolution.

Colonel Clark could not have captured the Illinois country. The latter might

have had a different fate. 




After the Seven Years' war the

territory east of the Mississippi was never again called Louisiana. Before that

war ended France, perceiving that she might lose all her American possessions

unless Spain joined her, entered into a secret agreement with her, called the

"Family Compact." whereby the latter, should she lose the Floridas or

Cuba to England as a result of the alliance, would be recompensed by the

transfer to her of Louisiana. But, as a result of the war, France having lost

to England that part of Louisiana east of the Mississippi, and Spain having

lost Cuba and Florida, therefore that part of Louisiana west of the Mississippi

was ceded by France to Spain. Thus what is now Cook county, Illinois, passed

from France to England as the result of this war. 




Upon the conclusion of peace at

the end of the Seven Years' war the English as soon as practicable took

possession of all the French posts east of the Mississippi. Many Frenchmen,

unwilling to become English subjects, crossed the Mississippi to Spanish

territory. Taking possession proved a difficult step, owing to the open

hostility of the Indians and the repugnance and opposition of the French

inhabitants. In order to establish British authority, it was found necessary to

displace all French civil officers with English ones, and this was done. But

the Jesuits had so much influence over the Indians and the French inhabitants that

the hostility to everything English continued. Therefore, as a last act, to

establish British rule and authority, all the Jesuits were expelled from what

may be called British Louisiana — that east of the Mississippi, which included

the present Cook county, Illinois. Under the British the country east of the

Mississippi and north of the 31st degree of north latitude continued to be

called Illinois. 




Soon after the accession of the

Western country by Great Britain she proceeded to divide Florida into two

sections — East and West — and provided each with a suitable government. The

northern boundary of West Florida was, in 1764, extended up to the mouth of the

Yazoo river. The Illinois country seems to have been left without a provincial

government — seems to have been under the control of Maj. Arthur Loftus,

Governor of West Florida, or his subordinate at Fort Chartres. The following

extract taken from the Annual Register (English), Vol. VI., explains the status

of the English possessions north of the Yazoo and east of the Mississippi, and

of course included the Illinois country and what is now Cook county: 




"The readers will observe,

and possibly with some surprise, that in this distribution much of the largest

and perhaps the most valuable part of our conquests does not fall into any of

these governments; that the environs of the Great Lakes, the fine countries on

the whole course of the Ohio and Ouabache (Wabash) and almost all that tract of

Louisiana which lies in the hither branch of the Mississippi, are none of them

comprehended in the distribution. The government of West Florida extends in no

part much above half a degree from the sea. Many reasons may be assigned for

this apparent omission. A consideration of the Indians was, we presume, the

principal, because it might have given a sensible alarm to that people if they

had seen us formally cantoning out their whole country in regular

establishments." The writer complained that all the territory recently

acquired north of the Floridas had not been included in either East or West

Florida, nor in any of the colonies to the east. 




In the Revolution the Colonies

sought to gain their independence and as much territory as possible. England

owned all east of the Mississippi and Spain all west of that stream. Both had

the right to navigate its whole course. France had been mourning in sackcloth

and ashes ever since the Seven Years' war, for the loss of her American

possessions, and hated England with intense and undying bitterness. She was

ready for any step to humiliate her enemy, wound her in a vulnerable part, or

win back what had been lost in the Seven Years' war. Even before the revolt of

the English colonies, France had intimated that she would assist them to gain

their independence; and after the struggle had begun she openly helped them

with money, munitions and encouragement. She formally joined the Colonies by

treaty of alliance dated Feb. 6, 1778. She repeatedly urged Spain to join

against Great Britain, and that country would have done so had not conflicting-interests

in America arisen. Spain soon had a different object in view. She owned the

right bank of the Mississippi from its source to the Gulf. Above all things,

she wanted to secure the Floridas, in which case she would own both banks of

the Lower Mississippi, and therefore believed. she could control the navigation

of that stream. She also wanted the territory east of the Upper Mississippi —

the same that France had owned before the Seven Years' war — which included the

Illinois country and what is now Cook county. Owning both banks of the

Mississippi throughout its course, and owning both of the Floridas and the

remainder of the Gulf coast, she would have not only undoubted and absolute

control of the navigation of that river, but could declare the whole Gulf a

closed sea — could shut all other countries out of both river and Gulf. As the

war progressed, it became evident that the Colonies would probably secure not

only their independence, but all the country east of the Mississippi as well.

When this eventuality became evident Spain perceived that her American colonial

designs were certain to conflict with those of the, Colonies after the war. She

therefore refrained from joining the Colonies against Great Britain. In fact,

on May 8, 1779, she declared war against Great Britain, but did not form an

alliance with the Colonies. She was forced to take this step, in order to

forestall the Colonies in capturing the Floridas and the Western country and to

take advantage of England while she was busy with her rebellious colonies, and

while the Colonies themselves were unable to interfere. 




It thus came to pass that Spain

actually conquered the Floridas from Great Britain and later claimed to have

conquered all the upper country east of the Mississippi, including the Illinois

country and what is now Cook county. But the latter claim was not allowed by

the United States after the Revolution, partly because George Rogers Clark

during the war captured the Illinois and Wabash valleys in the interest of the

Colonies. What Spain really did in the upper country, while the Colonies were

struggling in the Revolution, was to take possession of Natchez, establish

posts at Walnut Hills (Vicksburg), and Chickasaw Bluffs (Memphis), strengthen

the posts and the settlements in the Wabash and the Illinois country, take

possession of the left bank of the Mississippi opposite Arkansas post and

capture St. Joseph, Michigan, and the Illinois country by an expedition from

St. Louis. In all of these movements, the real object of Spain was to gain the

Floridas, and both banks of the Mississippi. While the struggling colonies were

in their sorest straits near the close of the long and crushing war, Spain

coolly and unhesitatingly told the Colonies that the only obstacle in the way

of her joining them against England was their absolute surrender of the right

to navigate the Mississippi. France pointedly and persistently urged the

Colonies to grant this demand. In this dire extremity, when the Colonies were

hardest pressed, when it seemed that another supreme effort would win

independence, and when it was believed that Spain could supplement that supreme

effort, the Continental authorities came within an inch of surrendering their

prized and invaluable right to navigate the Mississippi. They knew that if they

won their independence, their domain would extend to the Mississippi above the

31st degree north latitude, and that by virtue of the English right to navigate

the lower course of that stream, secured by the treaty of Fontainebleau, they would

be entitled to navigate the lower course. In the absence of railroads the

Mississippi was the only outlet to the ocean the Western people possessed;

they, therefore, vehemently declared that the surrender of their rights to

navigate the Mississippi would be followed by their withdrawal from the Union.

The opposition of the Western people and the selfish attitude of Spain —

grasping, unfriendly, narrowminded and treacherous — at last roused the

Continental Congress to the importance of immediate and specific action, and

thereupon they passed a resolution never to surrender the rights of the United

States to navigate the whole course of the Mississippi. 




Upon the conclusion of peace in

1783, England ceded to Spain the Floridas, but ceded to the United States all

the upper country — all north of West Florida and east of the Mississippi. It

required a half dozen years before Spain relinquished her claim to the upper

country east of the river (including the Illinois country and Cook county); and

it required an even score of years before the absolute right of the United

States to navigate the whole course of the Mississippi was finally settled. It

will thus be seen that the treaty of 1783 permanently transferred the Illinois

country and Cook county to the United States. 




After the revolution, much truer

than before, 'the right to navigate the Mississippi was, in the absence of

railways, all important to the Western people. The Illinois country grew

rapidly and immensely. The project of shutting out the Americans from the lower

Mississippi, or of surrendering for twenty-five years, as was proposed, the

right to navigate that course was declared sufficient, if carried into effect,

to cause the Western people to set up an independent government. Their rights

were not interfered with except temporarily. 




The treaty of October 27. 1795,

between Spain and the United States established the southern boundary of the

latter on the 31st parallel of the north latitude, located the western boundary

in the middle of the Mississippi, extended to the United States the right to

navigate the whole course of that stream, and gave the latter the right to

deposit merchandise at New Orleans for three years, or an equivalent

establishment elsewhere, if not at New Orleans after that date. This treaty

rendered the settlement and prosperity of the Western country both certain and

rapid. The interdiction of the merchandise deposits at New Orleans in October,

1802, and the failure of Spain to assign an "equivalent establishment

elsewhere" again roused the Western people; but the transfer of Louisiana

by Napoleon, in 1803, to the United States forever made the Mississippi

exclusively the property of the latter and thus removed all clouds from the

commercial sky of the Illinois country and Cook county. 




It will be seen that the tract of

country now called Cook county, Illinois, was first the property of the Indians

— presumably the Mascoutens, then the Illinois, and then the Pottawatomies. At

the date of exploration France claimed it as a part of New France (Canada), and

the English Atlantic colonies claimed it as a westward extension of their

grants. But France perfected her claim and thus became the first white owner of

Cook county. In 1684 it was included in the grant to La Salle, but was soon freed

by his early death. In 1701 the English, by their treaty with the Iroquois,

secured a claim to the country westward to the Mississippi, but this claim

probably extended no further northward than the Calumet, and, therefore, did

not embrace all of Cook county, though it did embrace much of the Illinois

country. In 1712 this county was included in the grant to Crozat; in 1714 it

passed in the grant to the Western Company, which in 1718 united with the

Eastern Company; and in 1723 it was embraced in the grant to the Royal India

Company — all French, of course. From 1732 to 1763 it remained under the

immediate government of France. In 1763 it passed to England as a result of the

Seven Years' war, and in 1783 was ceded to the United States. It was claimed by

Spain at the close of the Revolution, but this claim was never seriously

considered, and after a score of years was abandoned. The cession of Louisiana

to the United States in 1803 settled the rights of the latter to the

Mississippi. 











THE INDIANS




 




IT DOES not appear that the

Miamis, except perhaps for short periods, ever occupied the present site of

downtown Chicago. Their permanent home was on St. Joseph river, Michigan, and

their domain probably extended as far as the Little Calumet, and therefore may

have embraced the southern part of Cook county. It is known, however, that the

Mascoutens, who were closely related to the Miamis, were early at the mouth of

the present Chicago river; in fact their domain joined that of the Miamis on

the west. It is probable that the occasional attacks of the Five Nations from

the East may have driven the Miamis to the present Chicago river to live

temporarily. It is known that before 1671 the Miamis and Mascoutens occupied

villages in common in Wisconsin, and that a portion of the Miami tribe

continued to live there as late as 1697. In 1699 St. Cosme and his associates

found the Miamis at Chicago (St. Joseph, Michigan), where there was a mission

in charge of Fathers Pinet and Bineteau. Although the name Chicago is here used,

reference to St. Joseph is undoubted, owing to the fact that Fathers Pinet and

Bineteau at that date had a mission at the latter place and not at the former.

In 1721 Charlevoix wrote as follows: "Fifty years ago the Miamis were

settled on the southern extremity of Lake Michigan, in a place called Chicago,

from the name of a small river which runs into the lake, the source of which is

not far distant from that of the river of the Illinois." This reference

also is to St. Joseph. The Kankakee was then called the river of the Illinois,

near the head of which the St. Joseph river had its source. The Des Plaines at

no time was called the Illinois. The Miamis, it is known, were then located on

the St. Joseph, then called Chicago. A little later the Weas, also related to

the Miamis. occupied at least a part of the present Cook county. At the treaty

of Greenville, August 3, 1795, Little Turtle, chief of the Miamis, claimed that

the domain of his tribe extended westward as far as the present Chicago, but

the Indians usually claimed more than was due them. His tribe really claimed to

the Calumet. The Illinois, also related to the Miamis, at times no doubt

occupied the present soil of Cook county; so of the Kickapoos. Still later the

combined Pottawatomies, Ottawas and Chippewas drove the Illinois and their

allies from this vicinity and kept possession until they were dispossessed by

the whites. All of the tribes mentioned above were of Algonquin or Chippewa

stock, and were thus closely related. 




The Treaty of Greenville,

concluded at Greenville, Ohio, August 3. 1795, between the United States, on

one side, and the Wyandots, Delawares, Shawnees, Ottawas, Chippewas,

Pottawatomies, Miamis, Eel Rivers, Weas, Kickapoos, Piankeshaws and Kaskaskias,

on the other, provided that there should pass to the United States "one

piece of land six miles square at the mouth of the Chicago river, emptying into

the southwest end of Lake Michigan, where a fort formerly stood." By this

treaty the whites were allowed a free passage "from the mouth of Chicago

river to the commencement of the portage between that river and the Illinois

and down the Illinois to the Mississippi." The above tribes, or portions

of them, as above stated, had claimed, from time immemorial, the soil at what

is now Cook county, and Chicago. Several of them that had no just claim to this

tract (Wyandots and Delawares) were joined in the treaty in order to forestall

any subsequent claim against the Government. 




On November 3, 1804, the Sacs and

Foxes ceded to the United States all the country south of the Wisconsin, and a

direct line drawn from a point thirty-six miles up the river to Sakaegan Lake

(which is supposed to be about thirty miles from the shore of Lake Michigan),

thence to a branch of the Illinois river. But this was really Winnebago

territory. The Ottawas, Chippewas and Pottawatomies protested against this sale

of their lands by the Sacs and Foxes. 




To the War of 1812, with its

accompanying influence for the worse upon the Indians, was due the attack of

the Indians at the Lee residence and at Fort Dearborn. Charles Lee owned a farm

on the South Branch about four miles from its mouth; his house stood on the

northwest side of the river and was first called "Lee's Place," and

later "Hardscrabble." Lee himself and his family lived near the fort,

and his "place" was occupied by Liberty White, a Frenchman named

Deliou, a discharged soldier and a boy. On April 6, 1812, a war party of eleven

Winnebagoes appeared and killed two of the men, the other man and the boy

having become suspicious and escaped to the fort. On their way they notified

the family of Burns, living on the river at what is now North State street, of

their danger, and?. squad of soldiers was sent to escort them to the fort. All

of the families gathered in the fort and the Indians left the neighborhood.

This ended the affair, but the next two months the Indians hovered around and

the whites had to be on their guard. 




War between England and the

United States was declared June 18, 1812, and on July 16 Fort Mackinac was

captured by the enemy. On August 9, a message with news of the war was received

here from Gen. William Hull, at Detroit, commander of the Western Department,

accompanied with an order to Capt. Nathan Heald, commander of Fort Dearborn, to

evacuate the fort and return with his command to Detroit. Under the

circumstances, this was an insane order and could have been issued only by such

a timorous officer as General Hull. The force here consisted of fifty-four

privates, twelve militiamen and three or four officers, and in the fort were

about a dozen women and twenty children. Captain Heald presumed upon the

friendship of the Pottawatomies and waited six days, until about four hundred

of that tribe had assembled. He expected they would act as escort to his charge

all the way to Detroit: On the 13th Capt. William Wells arrived from Fort Wayne

with thirty friendly Miamis to assist Captain Heald on his march. All of the

ammunition and guns not needed and all of the whisky were destroyed and thrown

into the river or the lake. The destruction of the liquor greatly inflamed the

Indians, and was one of the causes that induced the Pottawatomies to turn

against the whites. The Indians held a council and resolved on the destruction

of the garrison. Notwithstanding this fact was made known to Captain Heald, and

notwithstanding the opposition of John Kinzie and the friendly Indians, of whom

there were several, the commander determined to obey the order of General Hull

and evacuate the fort. The massacre which resulted was due to this

determination and not to any necessity to evacuate. Disobedience of the order

would have been fully justified with almost certain massacre staring the

garrison in the face in case of evacuation. The fort could have been held for

months, or until relief from Detroit or elsewhere could have arrived. Captain

Heald undoubtedly thought the Pottawatomies could be trusted and relied upon

that hope. He did not seem to take into consideration that the Indians might be

acting at the instigation of the British, and, as it transpired later, this was

actually the fact, but the determination to evacuate was carried out. At 9

o'clock on the morning of the 15th all marched forth. At the head were fifteen

of the Miamis and the other fifteen brought up the rear; between were the women

and children in wagons and on horseback; and around them were the regulars and

the militiamen. The march led south along the lake shore. On the west,

beginning a little south of the fort, was a sand ridge extending parallel with

the shore far to the south. When the march began the Pottawatomies accompanied

the party as a supposed escort, but when the sand ridge was reached they passed

to the west side of it. Concealed by the ridge, they hurried forward, and about

a mile and a half from the fort made preparations to attack the whites when

they should arrive near the shore opposite. Captain Wells, riding in advance,

was the first to see signs of attack and came hurriedly back. When opposite the

Indians, the latter began firing from their place of concealment on the ridge

and were charged upon by the troop, and the fighting became brisk. The Indians

managed to flank the whites and thus reached the wagons, and there the

slaughter mostly occurred. The Miamis fled at the first attack and took no part

in the massacre. Twenty-five non-commissioned officers and privates and eleven

women and children alone escaped the slaughter; all the rest were butchered.

The survivors were surrendered by Captain Heald upon condition that their lives

would be spared. Nearly all the wounded were put to death. The Indians engaged

numbered about four hundred. Their loss was probably fifteen. Captain Wells,

Ensign Ronau and Surgeon Van Voohis were among the killed. The former was

horribly mutilated, his head cut off and his heart taken out and eaten by the

savages. That this attack was at the instigation of the British is shown by the

fact that Captain Heald, the commander, after he had recovered from his wounds

at St. Joseph, was delivered to the British at Mackinac and by them paroled.

Friendly Indians saved several whites from death. The following day the fort

and the agency building were destroyed by fire, and for four years thereafter

lay in ruins. So far as known, the bodies of the dead were permitted to rot

where they fell. 




On August 24, 1816, the Ottawas,

Chippewas and Pottawatomies residing on the Illinois and "Milwakee"

rivers and their branches, and on the southwestern parts of Lake Michigan,

ceded to the United States "all their right, title and claim to all the

land contained in the before-mentioned cession of the Sacs and Foxes, which

lies south of a due west line from the southern extremity of Lake Michigan to

the Mississippi." They also ceded the following tract: "Beginning on

the left bank of the Fox river of Illinois, ten miles above the mouth of said

Fox river; thence running so as to cross Sandy creek, ten miles above its

mouth; thence in a direct line to a point ten miles north of the west end of

the portage between Chicago creek, which empties into Lake Michigan, and the

river Desplaines, a fork of the Illinois; thence in a direct line to a point in

Lake Michigan ten miles northward of the mouth of Chicago creek; thence along

the lake to a point ten miles southward of the mouth of said Chicago creek;

thence in a direct line to a point on the Kankakee, ten miles above its mouth;

thence with the said Kankakee and the Illinois river to the mouth of Fox river;

and thence to the beginning." By this treaty the United States

relinquished to the above tribes all other land contained in the aforesaid

cession by the Sacs and Foxes lying north of a due west line from the southern

extremity of Lake Michigan to the Mississippi, except reservations in

Wisconsin. This treaty of the Sacs and Foxes referred to did not touch any part

of what is now Cook county; its eastern boundary was in part the Fox river. Two

of the Indian names signed to this treaty of 1816 were Black Bird and Black

Partridge. 




"In 1816 a tract of land

bordering on Lake Michigan, including Chicago and extending to the Illinois

river, was obtained from the Indians for the purpose of opening a canal

communication between the lake and the river. Having been one of the

commissioners that treated for this land, I personally know that the Indians were

induced to believe that the opening of a canal would be very advantageous to

them, and that under authorized expectations that this would be done they ceded

the land for a trifle." — (Governor Edwards' Message.) 




On August 19, 1825, at

"Prairie des Chien," it was conceded by the United States that

"the Illinois Indians have also a just claim to a portion of the country

bounded south by the Indian boundary line aforesaid (running from the south end

of Lake Michigan directly westward to the Mississippi), east by Lake Michigan,

north by the Menominee country (about the Milwaukee river), and northwest by

Rock river." 




In 1825, and before, Alexander

Wolcott was Indian agent at Chicago. He had granted in 1823 and 1824 licenses

to trade with the Indians to the following persons: Jeremie Clermont, David

Laughton, Jacob Harsen, Isidore Chabert, Stephen Mack, Jr., Nathaniel Leonard,

Jr., Cole Weeks, John Baptiste Beaubien and Archibald Clybourn. Clermont was at

Milwaukee, Laughton on Vermilion river, Harson on the Kankakee, Chabert on the

Iroquois, Mack on Rocky (Rock) river, Leonard at Milwaukee, Weeks at Grand Bois

and Beaubien and Clybourn at Chicago. Each of the latter had only $500 of

capital thus employed. 




In 1828 occurred the Winnebago

Indian alarm; they killed a few emigrants, when a volunteer force overawed

them. The Indian trade was the only good trade here at this time. Alexander

Wolcott was Indian agent in 1827 at Chicago; Stephen Mack on Rock river,

Archibald Clybourn, by a substitute, on Rock river; Elisha Taylor at Milwaukee,

George Hunt on Rock river, and Clermont Lauzon at Milwaukee. In 1829 the

superintendency of Indian affairs of Michigan territory embraced Chicago, and

the latter included all the country along Lake Michigan from Milwaukee to Grand

river in Michigan. Alexander Doyle was sub-agent of Indians at Chicago in 1829.

At this date there was an aggregation of 105 soldiers at Fort Dearborn under

Major Fowie; they were two companies of the Fifth infantry. 




By the treaty of July 29, 1829,

held at "Prairie de Chien" with the Chippewa, Ottawa and Pottawatomie

Indians, the United States secured the following tract: "Beginning on the

western shore of Lake Michigan at the northeast corner of the field of Antoine

Ouilmette, who lives near Gross Point, about twelve miles north of Chicago;

thence running due west to Rock river; thence down said river to where a line

drawn due west from the most southern bend of Lake Michigan crosses said river;

thence east along said line to the Fox river of the Illinois; thence along the

northwestern boundary line of 1816 to Lake Michigan; thence northwardly along

the western shore of said lake to the place of beginning." 




From this cession there was

reserved to Billy Caldwell "two and a half sections on the Chicago river above

and adjoining the line of the purchase of 1816; to Victoire Pothier one and a

half sections on the Chicago river above and adjoining the tract of land herein

granted to Billy Caldwell; to Jane Miranda, one quarter section on the Chicago

river above and adjoining the tract herein granted to Victoire Pothier; to

Archange Ouilmette, a Pottawatomie woman, wife of Antoine Ouilmette, two

sections for herself and her children on Lake Michigan south of and adjoining

the northern boundary of the cession herein made by the Indians aforesaid to

the United States." 




It was agreed that these tracts

of land should never be leased or convened by the grantees or their heirs to

any persons whatever without permission of the President of the United States,

and that the United States, at its own expense, should cause to be surveyed the

northern boundary line of this cession from Lake Michigan to Rock river as soon

as practicable. The commissioners to conclude this treaty were John McNeil,

Pierre Menard and Caleb Atwater. John H. Kinzie (Indian sub-agent), Lieut. Col.

Zachary Taylor, Alexander Wolcott (Indian agent), and Thomas Forsyth (Indian

agent), were present. At this treaty there were paid by the United States for

Indian depredations the following claims: To Antoine Ouilmette $800 for damage

by the Indians at the time of the Chicago massacre and during the War of 1812;

to the heirs of John Kinzie, for damages at the Chicago massacre, and at St.

Joseph (Michigan), during the war of 1812, $3,500; to Margaret Helon, for losses

at the Chicago massacre, $800, and to James Kinzie, for money due him, $485. 




By the treaty of October 20.

1832, at Camp Tippecanoe, the Pottawatomie Indians ceded the following tract to

the United States: "Beginning at a point on Lake Michigan ten miles

southward of the mouth of Chicago river; thence in a direct line to a point on

the Kankakee river ten miles above its mouth; thence with said river and the

Illinois river to the mouth of Fox river, being the boundary of a cession made

by them in 1816; thence with the southern boundary of the Indian territory to

the state line between Illinois and Indiana; thence north with said line to

Lake Michigan; thence with the shore of Lake Michigan to the place of

beginning." There were many reserves at Little Rock village. Twelve Mile

Grove, Thorn Creek, Soldier's Village, Hickory Creek. Skunk Grove, villages of

Minemaung. Mesheketeno, Waisuskucks, Shabonier. It was provided that thereafter

annually there should be paid to Billy Caldwell $600. The following claims,

among many, were paid by the Government: Gurdon S. Hullbard, $5,573; Antoine Le

Clerc, $55; Alexander Robinson, $91; Peter Menard, Jr., $37. At this treaty the

following tracts in Cook county were reserved: Section 7, Township 37 north,

Range 15 east (near the mouth of Calumet river); Section 8, Township 37 north.

Range 15 east (also near the mouth of Calumet river); Section 33, Township 35

north, Range 14 east (near Steger); Southwest quarter of Section 5. Township 37

north. Range 15 east (near the mouth of Calumet river); Sections 31 and 32,

Township 36 north, Range 14 east (near Homewood). 




The Black Hawk war of 1832 only

indirectly affected Fort Dearborn and Chicago. By May 10, of that year, about

seven hundred persons, among whom were 213 women and children, were congregated

in Fort Dearborn for protection. The men here with guards out remained on their

farms to care for the stock, etc. Colonel Owen, commander of the fort; Gholson

Kercheval and Colonel Hamilton, extra quartermasters, did all they could for

the comfort of the settlers. From fifteen to twenty persons were crowded often

in a single room. The Sauks and Foxes sent delegates here to induce the

Pottawatomies to join them in their war on the whites. They brought strong

pressure to bear on Billy Caldwell, chief of the Pottawatomies, located here,

and upon Alexander Robinson, another chief. Finally Colonel Owen, Colonel

Hamilton and Chiefs Caldwell and Robinson held a council with them on the North

side, on which occasion Blackfoot and others savagely attacked the Government

for the wrongs done the Indians and declared that now was the time to get even,

and the young braves present favored their views. But Colonel Owen, in a

dispassionate speech, showed how such a course would react upon the Indians and

completely changed the tide. The Indians retired, consulted and finally

returned and gave their hands to Colonel Owen, asserting that they were friends

of the United States and would furnish 100 braves to go against the Sauks and

Foxes. Upon hearing this conclusion of the Pottawatomies and their allies, the

Chippewas and Ottawas present in the vicinity of Chicago, the delegates of

Black Hawk's band departed. If the latter had succeeded in inducing the former

to join them against the whites, there might have been another massacre at Fort

Dearborn. The leading men here visited threatened points within twenty or

thirty miles of Chicago and assisted in protecting the people. Companies of

militia escorted to Chicago the whites gathered at James Walker's, near

Plainfield, and at Holderman's Grove. The troops here joined the general

movement westward against the Indians. On July 8, Gen. Winfield Scott arrived

here with a large force and brought with him what was as bad as the Indians —

the cholera. The soldiers who died of this disease were buried on Lake street

and no record was kept of the interments. About twenty years later, when

excavations in Lake street were made, their bodies were discovered and removed

to the City cemetery.




By the treaty of October 27,

1832, the Kaskaskia, Peoria, Michigamia, Cahokia and Tamarois Indians — all of

the Illinois nation — ceded to the United States all their claims to lands in

Illinois and Missouri. 




By the treaty of September 26,

1833, concluded at Chicago with the Chippewa, Ottawa and Pottawatomie Indians,

the claim of the United States to the following tract was reaffirmed and made

permanent, viz.: "All their land along the western shore of Lake Michigan

and between this lake and the land ceded to the United States by the Winnebago

nation (Rock river), bounded north by Milwaukee river, and on the south by the

line running due west from southern point of Lake Michigan to the Mississippi —

containing in all about 5,000.000 acres." The Indians were removed west by

the provisions of this treaty. Mrs. Mann, daughter of Antoine Ouilmette. other

children of Ouilmette, the Laframboise children, the Beaubiens, Billy Caldwell.

Billy Caldwell's children, Alexander Robinson. Joseph Laframboise. and others,

received cash in lieu of reservations. 




On September 26, 1833, the treaty

with the Pottawatomies (about 7,000) was held on the North Side under a tent.

Thomas J. V. Owen, George B. Porter and William Weatherford signed the treaty

on behalf of the United States. The Indians ceded all their remaining territory

in northern Illinois and Wisconsin — about 20,000,000 acres. The Indians were

mostly encamped in the woods on the North Side, but a large band was under a

cottonwood tree at Lake and State streets. Many speculators were present. 'There

were scenes enacted which it would be no credit to humanity to narrate. Quite a

large number of our present citizens were here at the time of the treaty —

(Annual Review of Chicago, 1854). The Indians were fleeced by the whites of

nearly all they obtained at this treaty. 




"Notice: — The Chicago

treaty of September 26, 1833, having been ratified only on certain conditions,

and as it is not known that these conditions will be assented to on the part of

the Indians: Therefore be it known, that all persons presuming to settle on the

ceded tract will be immediately removed therefrom." — (J. V. Owen, Indian

Agent. August, 1834.) 




Mr. Calhoun, an eye witness, thus

in part describes in his paper the payment of the Indian annuity on October 28,

1834: "About $30,000 worth of goods were to be distributed. They assembled

to the number of about 4,000. The distribution took place by piling the whole

quantity in a heap upon the prairie on the west side of the river near the

corner of Randolph and Canal streets. The Indians were made tp sit down upon

the grass in a circle around the pile of goods — their squaws sitting behind

them. The half-breeds and traders were appointed to distribute the goods, and

they leisurely walked to the pile and taking an armful proceeded to throw to

one and another of those sitting on the grass, and to whom they were appointed

to distribute, such articles as they saw fit, and then returned to the pile to

replenish. Shortly the Indians began to show an anxiety not to be overlooked in

the distribution and at first got on their knees, vociferating all the time in

right lusty Indian gibberish. Then they rose on one foot, and soon all were

standing, and they began to contract the circle until they finally made a rush

for the pile. I saw then a manner of dispersing a mob that I never saw

exemplified before nor since. The crowd was so great around the pile of goods

that those who were back from them could not get to them and the outsiders at

once commenced hurling whatever missiles they could get hold of, literally

filling the air and causing them to fall in the center where the crowd was the

most dense. These, to save a broken head, rushed away, leaving a space for

those who had hurled the missiles to rush in for a share of the spoils."

This statement was made by Mr. Calhoun in 1854 upon the request of the author

of Annual Review of Chicago. Indians were killed at every distribution. Only

two such distributions were made here. 




"On Monday of last week the

Indian annuities were paid. Considerable drunkenness among the Indians was

observed, but we are informed that this evil was greatly diminished from the

last year. A number died while here, and two Indians were killed by being

stabbed by others." — (Democrat, November 5. 1834.) 




"The agents of the United

States are now paying the Indians at this place. The number here has been

estimated at from 2,000 to 4,000, and a more motley group eye never beheld.

Yesterday they had a dance through some of the principal streets around the

star spangled banner. Their clothing is of every color, bright red

predominating; and bedizened with bracelets, ribbons and feathers, they

presented a scene in which art and nature were strangely jumbled together. On

Monday one was tried by his tribe for the murder of a squaw and sentenced to

death. He was shot by the chief a short distance from town" — (Democrat ,

August 19, 1835). During the summer of 1835 the Indians were removed in groups

to their new homes west of the Mississippi. In September, Col. I. B. F. Russell

advertised for forty ox-teams of two yoke each with which to remove the last of

them. With these wagons and teams he started about October 1, accompanied by

about fifteen hundred Indians — men, women and children — and such baggage and

belongings as they possessed. Thus the curtain was rung down on the last of the

Indians of this county. 




It should be noted that the tract

six miles square at the mouth of the Chicago river, obtained from the Indians

at the treaty of Greenville in 1795, was never surveyed and its boundaries

defined and marked. The object of the United States for the location of a fort

at the mouth of the river was attained when this cession was secured, and to

the future was left its survey if needed. It was not needed, because the treaty

of 1816 affirmed the grant of the six-acre tract by including it in a much

larger cession. 











COOK COUNTY BEFORE ITS

FORMATION— THE NORTHERN BOUNDARY— HURON COUNTYLAND SURVEYS, ETC.




 




THE Colony of Virginia was very

active, both before and during the Revolution, in pushing its claims to the

Western country. The establishment of Fort Pitt was really a movement of the

Virginia colony. So was the grant to the Ohio Company of a large tract at or

near the present Louisville. Kentucky itself was mainly a Virginia settlement.

The movement of Capt. James Willing down the Ohio and Mississippi rivers, early

in 1778, was primarily in the interest of the Virginia colony. The expedition

of George Rogers Clark a few months later had .the same origin — was instigated

by Virginia in the interest of the colonies generally, and herself in

particular. Thus the colony was active in placing wide claims on as much of the

Western country as possible, in order to forestall either of the other

colonies, particularly Pennsylvania. This design held good during the

Revolution, because it was presumed that ownership of the Western country among

the colonies themselves, whether they gained their independence or not. would

still remain open for settlement after the war. 




Nothing whatever concerning the

boundaries of the thirteen original colonies was said in the Declaration of

Independence. In the Articles of Confederation adopted July 9, 1778, it was

provided that "the United States, in Congress assembled, shall also be the

last resort on appeal in all disputes and differences now subsisting, or that

hereafter may arise, between two or more states, concerning boundary,

jurisdiction, or any other cause whatever." The Constitution of the United

States adopted September 17, 1787, provided that "the Congress shall have

power to dispose of, and make all needful rules and regulations respecting the

territory or other property belonging to the United States." On October 5,

1778, the Virginia assembly created Illinois county by the following act in

part: 




"An Act for Establishing the

County of Illinois and for the More Effectual Protection and Defense Thereof. 




"Whereas, By a successful

expedition carried on by the Virginia 




militia on the western side of

the Ohio river, several of the British posts within the territory of the

commonwealth, in the country adjacent to the river Mississippi, have been

reduced and the inhabitants have acknowledged themselves citizens thereof and

taken the oath of fidelity to the same; and the good faith and safety of the

commonwealth require that the said citizens should be supported and protected

by speedy and effectual reinforcements, which will be the best means of

preventing the inroads and depredations of the Indians upon the inhabitants to

the westward of the Allegheny mountains; and, 




"Whereas, From their remote

situation it may at this time be difficult, if not impracticable, to govern

them by the present laws of this commonwealth until proper information, by

intercourse with their fellow citizens on the west side of the Ohio, shall have

familiarized them to the same, and it is therefore expedient that some

temporary form of government, adapted to their circumstances, should in the

meantime be established; therefore, 




"Be it enacted by the

General Assembly, That all the citizens of this commonwealth who are already

settled, or shall hereafter settle, on the western side of the Ohio aforesaid,

shall be included in a distinct county, which shall be called Illinois county;

and that the Governor of this commonwealth, with the advice of the Council, may

appoint a county lieutenant or commandant in chief in that county, during

pleasure, who shall appoint and commission so many deputy commandants, militia

officers and commissaries, as he shall think proper in the different districts,

during pleasure, all of whom, before they enter into office, shall take the

oath of fidelity to this commonwealth and the oath of office according to the

form of their own religion, which the inhabitants shall fully and to all

intents and purposes enjoy, together with all their civil rights and

property." — (October, 1778, 3rd of Commonwealth, Chapter XXI, page 552,

Vol. 9, Henning's Statutes at Large.) 




The act continued and made full

provision for the care of the people, as well as the wilderness and remoteness

of the county permitted. Civil officers were to be chosen by a majority of the

people, and the militia was to be organized. Col. John Todd was, by act of the

Assembly of Virginia, on December 12, 1778, appointed county lieutenant or

commandant of Illinois county. The county of Illinois was created as soon as

practicable after it was learned that Col. George Rogers Clark had captured the

Illinois country. Colonel Todd was thus instructed by Gov. Patrick Henry of

Virginia — "Consider yourself as at the head of the civil department and

as such having the command of the militia, who are not to be under the command

of the military, until ordered out by the civil authority, and act in

conjunction with them." 




The county organization in

Virginia was in imitation of the English shire system — in reality a sort of

microcosm of the state. The chief officer was the county lieutenant, who was

first denominated "commander of plantations" with authority over

certain territory. In England this office was usually occupied by a knight and

hence in Virginia "gentlemen" were usually found in such positions.

His powers were more executive than judicial and he was held responsible for

the faithful administration of county affairs. He was at the head of the

militia and could order them out. 




Congress by act of September 6.

1780, recommended that states having claims to "waste and unappropriated

lands in the western country" should cede to the United States for the

common benefit of the Union a liberal portion of such claims. In response to

this recommendation the state of Virginia did on January 2, 1781. pass an act

to surrender all its right, title and claim to the territory northwest of the

river Ohio, subject to conditions as follows: 1. — That the territory so ceded

should be laid out into independent states. 2. — That Virginia should he

reimbursed for reducing the British posts at the Kaskaskias and St. Vincents

(Vincennes) and for her subsequent expense in maintaining the garrisons and

supporting the civil government there, etc. 3. — That the French and Canadians

there should be secured in their possessions. 4. — That as George Rogers Clark,

who had been sent out by Virginia and had conquered the western country, had

been promised a gratuity of land, he and his soldiers should be given a grant

in said territory of 150,000 acres. 5. — That certain other military claims

should be settled by the retention on the part of Virginia of other tracts of

land northwest of the Ohio. 6. — That the remainder of said territory should be

devoted to a common fund for all the states alike. 7. — That private claims of

individuals based on Indian grants to any part of said territory should be

void. 8. — That all the remaining territory of Virginia should be guaranteed to

that state by the United States. 




New Jersey contended that the

demands of Virginia concerning the western or "crown lands" were

"partial, unjust and illiberal." This state took the position that it

was understood at the outset by the thirteen states that each of them was to

have its "just and incontrovertible claim to its full proportion of all

vacant territory." The New Jersey Legislature further said June 14. 1784:

"It is particularly disagreeable to have occasion to trouble Congress with

so many applications on this head, but the importance of the subject, the

danger of so much property being unjustly wrested from us. together with its

being our indispensable duty, in justification and defense of the rights of the

people we represent, must be our apology; we cannot be silent while viewing one

state aggrandizing herself by the unjust detention of that property which has

been procured by the common blood and treasure of the whole and which on every

principle of reason and justice is vested in Congress for the use and general

benefit of the Union they represent. They do therefore express their

dissatisfaction with the cession of western territory made by the state of

Virginia in January, 1781, as being far short of affording that justice which

is equally due to the United States at large, and request that Congress will

not accept of said cession, but that they will press upon the said state to

make a more liberal surrender of that territory of which they claim so

boundless a proportion." 




"It is idle to talk of the

conquest as being purely a Virginia affair. It was conquered by Clark, a

Virginian, with some scant help from Virginia, but it was retained only owing

to the power of the United States. . . . Had Virginia alone been in interest

Great Britain would not have even paid her claims the compliment of listening

to them. . . . The revolutionary war was emphatically fought by Americans for

America. No part could have been won without the help of the whole, and every

victory was thus a victory for all in which all can take pride." — (Winning

of the West. — Roosevelt. ) 




It was shown by William L. May in

Congress in 1834-5 that the westward claim of Virginia did not extend as far

north as the southernmost bend of Lake Michigan; the grant of that colony

extended two hundred miles north and two hundred miles south of Point Comfort.

New York, Connecticut, Massachusetts and Virginia laid claim to territory

northwest of the river Ohio. 




Congress earnestly recommended to

the states of Massachusetts and Connecticut that they do without delay release to

the United States in Congress assembled all claims and pretensions of claims to

the said western territory without any conditions or restrictions whatever, and

declared that the United States could not consistently "accept the cession

proposed to be made by the state of Virginia or guarantee the tract of country

claimed by them in their act of cession," for the following reasons: 1. —

It appeared to your committee from the vouchers laid before them that all the

lands ceded or pretended to be ceded to the United States by the state of

Virginia are within the claims of the states of Massachusetts, Connecticut and

New York, being part of the lands belonging to the said Six Nations of Indians

and their tributaries. 2. — It appeared that a great part of the lands claimed

by the state of Virginia and requested to be guaranteed to them by Congress is

also within the claim of the state of New York, being also part of the country

of the said Six Nations and their tributaries. 3. — It also appeared that a

large part of the lands last aforesaid are to the westward of the west boundary

of the late colony of Virginia as established by the King of Great Britain in

Council previous to the present Revolution. 4. — It appeared that a large tract

of said lands hath been legally and equitably sold and conveyed away under the

Government of Great Britain before the declaration of independence by persons

claiming the absolute property thereof. 5. — It appeared that in the year 1763

a very large part thereof was separated and appointed for a distinct government

and colony by the King of Great Britain with the knowledge and approbation of

the government of Virginia. 6. — The conditions annexed to the said cession are

incompatible with the honor, interests and peace of the United States and

therefore in the opinion of your committee altogether inadmissible; therefore, 




"Resolved, That it be

earnestly recommended to the state of Virginia, as they value the peace,

welfare and increase of the United States, that they reconsider their said act

of cession and by a proper act for the purpose cede to the United States all

claims and pretensions to the lands and country beyond a reasonable western

boundary consistent with their former acts while a colony under the power of

Great Britain and agreeable to their just rights of soil and jurisdiction at

the commencement of the present war, and that free from any conditions and

restrictions whatever." 




Thus in the end Congress agreed

substantially to grant the above demands of Virginia from Number 1 to Number 6

inclusive, rejected Number 7 as unnecessary in view of the acceptance of Number

6. and refused to grant Number 8. The Congressional records show that the

members of Congress generally took the same view of the Virginia claims that

New Jersey did. The debate on the subject was sharp and epigrammatic, each

state making such claims exhibiting decided jealousy of its rights; but finally

a diplomatic or conciliatory course was pursued, and Virginia and the other

states having claims to distant western territory were requested in the

interests of the inhabitants of all the thirteen states to cede such claims

without reservation to the general government for the use of all. While placing

this finality in the form of a request. Congress did not surrender the right of

the government to demand for the use of all the people the possession of all

territory wrested from Great Britain by the united efforts of the thirteen

states. The opinion prevailed that the territory acquired outside of the

reasonable boundaries of the thirteen states had been obtained by the joint

efforts of all and should be disposed of for the common benefit under the

direction of the government. This conclusion was one of the most notable of the

early surrenders of the doctrine of states rights. Virginia assented to the

request of Congress by Act of Dec. 20, 1783. 




It was proposed in Congress on

July 7. 1786. that the territory northwest of the river Ohio should be divided

into five states — three between the Ohio and Mississippi rivers, separated by

lines north and south through the mouths of the Wabash and Big Miami rivers and

south of a due east and west line extending from the Ohio to the Mississippi

rivers and passing through the most southerly point of Lake Michigan. The

fourth state was to be between Lakes Huron and Michigan, and the fifth between

Lake Michigan and the Mississippi river. 




The ordinance of 1787, passed by

Congress July 13, 1787, provided that, "It is further understood and

declared that the boundaries of these three states shall be subject so far to

be altered that if Congress shall hereafter find it expedient they shall have

authority to form one or two states in that part of said territory which lies

north of an east and west line drawn through the southerly bend or extreme of

Lake Michigan." 




The Ordinance of 1787 further

provided that the Territory of the United States northwest of the river Ohio

should for purposes of temporary government be constituted one district,

subject later to be divided into two districts; that there should be a governor

who should be commander-in-chief of the militia, a secretary, a court of three

judges, a legislative council and a house of representatives. 




On June 20, 1790, Knox county was

created with the following boundaries: "Beginning at the standing stone

forks of the Great Miami river and down the said river to the confluence with

the Ohio river; thence with the Ohio river to the small stream or rivulet above

Fort Massac; thence with the eastern line of St. Clair county to the mouth of

the Little Michillimackinac; thence up the Illinois river to the forks or

confluence of the Theokiki (Kankakee), and Chicago (Desplaines), thence by a

line to be drawn due north to the boundary of the territory of the United

States, and so far easterly upon said boundary line as that a due south line

may be drawn to the place of beginning." — (St. Clair Papers, Vol. II.).

Knox county thus embraced the present Cook county. 




By act of May 7, 1800, Congress

divided the Northwest territory into two separate governments — all west of a

line drawn from the mouth of Kentucky river to Fort Recovery and thence due

north to the Canadian line to be called Indiana territory. This included Cook

county. The same government was prepared for this territory as had been prepared

for the Northwest territory in 1787. Saint Vincennes was made the seat of

government. 




By proclamation of the Governor,

February 3, 1801, what is now Cook county was embraced within the new limits of

St. Clair county, the following being the language: "The county of St.

Clair shall be bounded on the south by the before-mentioned east and west line

running from the Mississippi through the Sink Hole Springs to the intersection

of the north line running from the Great Cave aforesaid; thence from the

"said point of intersection by a direct line to the mouth of the Great

Kennoumic (Calumet) river, falling into the southerly bend of Lake Michigan:

thence by a direct northeast line to the division line between the Indiana and

Northwestern territories; thence along the said line to the territorial

boundary of the United States and along the said boundary line to the

intersection thereof with the Mississippi and down the Mississippi to the place

of beginning." — (Executive Journal, Indiana Territory, Vol. TIL, page

982.) 




Previous to the formation of the

State of Indiana, Congress had carefully observed the provisions of the

Ordinance of 1787. When that State was admitted. Congress disregarded and

extended the northern and western boundaries of the state, the former ten miles

north of the east and west line through the southerly bend of Lake Michigan.

"The State of Illinois subsequently assented for a valuable consideration

to this deviation of Congress from the Ordinance so far as related to the

western boundary of Indiana in which alone was she interested." — (Senate

Documents, 1st Session, XXIV Congress, Vol. III.) 




The people of the counties of

Randolph and St. Clair, in Indiana Territory (which included Cook county),

petitioned Congress in February, 1808, that they were called upon to suffer

great hardships by the failure to divide the said territory into the two states

provided for in the Ordinance of 1787. They recited that "among the

disadvantages they state that the inhabitants of their two large and populous

counties are subject to be called from one hundred and eighty to one hundred

and fifty miles through a wilderness (which for want of wood and living water

must long remain dreary and difficult to pass through) to attend as suitors,

witnesses, etc., at the general court, which is held at Vincennes, has

cognizance of every matter in controversy exceeding the value of fifty

dollars." The House Committee of Congress, to whom was referred this

petition, reported that it was then inexpedient to grant the prayer of the

petitioners. 




The question of dividing Indiana

Territory as proposed in the aforesaid petition, was again considered by

Congress in December, 1808. The committee of the House decided "that as

the majority of the citizens desired the separation it was deemed advisable to

grant the same, and that therefore the following resolution should be

adopted": "Resolved, That it is expedient to divide the Indiana

Territory and to establish a separate territorial government west of the river

Wabash agreeably to the Ordinance for the government of the Territory of the

United States Northwest of the river Ohio passed on the 13th day of July.

1787." 




The Act of February 3, 1809,

divided Indiana Territory into two distinct governments. The Illinois name was

revived, as it was dear to the hearts of the people. "Illinois

country" had been its name since the first French invasion. It was formed

of all that part of Indiana Territory lying west of the Wabash river and a line

drawn from the said river and Post Vincennes due north to the territorial line

between the United States and Canada. Illinois state, admitted April 18, 1818,

was bounded as follows: East, by the Wabash river and the north line from

Vincennes to the northwest corner of Indiana, thence east with the north

boundary of Indiana to the middle of Lake Michigan, thence north along the

middle of Lake Michigan to North latitude 42 degrees and 30 minutes, thence

west to the middle of the Mississippi river, thence down the same to the mouth

of the Ohio, thence up the latter to the mouth of the Wabash. The population in

1800 was 215, in 1810, was 12.282, and in 1820, was 55,211. 




On April 28, 1809, Nathaniel

Pope, territorial Secretary and acting Governor, created by proclamation St.

Clair county, with the following boundary: "All that part of Illinois

Territory which lies north of the line dividing the counties of Randolph and

St. Clair as it existed under the government of Indiana Territory." On the

last day of February, 1809, Cook county was embraced within the limits of the

New St. Clair county. 




On September 14, 1812, Madison

county was created as follows: "Beginning on the Mississippi river to run

with the second township line above Cahokia east until it strikes the dividing

line between Illinois and Indiana Territories; thence with said dividing line

to the line of Upper Canada; thence with said line to the Mississippi; thence

down the Mississippi to the beginning." This description embraced the

present Cook county. "I do appoint the house of Thomas Kirkpatrick to be

the seat of Justice of said county (Proclamation of Gov. Ninian Edwards,

Kaskaskia, September 14, 1812). 




By Act of November 24, 1814, Cook

county was included in the new county of Edwards, as follows: "Beginning

at the mouth of Bonipart (Bon Pas) creek, on the Big Wabash, and running thence

due west to the meridian line which runs due north from the mouth of the Ohio

river; thence with said meridian line and due north until it strikes the line

of Upper Canada; thence with the line of Upper Canada to the line that

separates this territory from the Indiana territory; and thence with said

dividing line to the beginning, shall constitute a separate county to be called

Edwards." 




Cook county was included in

Crawford county by the following Act, approved December 31, 1816:

"Beginning at the mouth of the Embarras and running with said river to the

intersection of the line dividing Townships Nos. 3 and 4 north, Range 11 west,

of the Second principal meridian; thence west with said township line to the meridian

and due north until it strikes the line of Upper Canada; thence to the line

that separates this territory from the State of Indiana; thence south with said

dividing line to the beginning, shall constitute a separate county to be called

Crawford." 




The Act approved March 22, 1819,

creating Clark county, embraced what is now Cook county, as follows: "All

that part of Crawford county lying north of a line beginning on the Great

Wabash river, dividing Townships 8 and 9 north, running due west, shall form a

new and separate county to be called Clark." 




Pike county was created January

31, 1821, with the following boundary: "Up the middle of the Illinois

river from its mouth to the fork and up the south fork (Kankakee) to the

Indiana state line; thence north with the state line to the north boundary of

the state; thence west with said state line to the west boundary of the state;

thence with said boundary to the place of beginning." What is now Cook

county was thus embraced in Pike county. 




Edgar county was created January

3, 1823, bordered on Indiana and was twenty-four miles wide. By the same Act

"All that tract of country west of Edgar county that is not attached to

any other county, and all that tract of country north of said Edgar county to

Lake Michigan" was attached to Edgar county. It appears from this Act that

the southern part of what is now Cook county was attached to Edgar county —

probably all south of an east and west line through the most southern point of

Lake Michigan. The remainder of the present Cook county was attached to Fulton

county by the following Act approved January 28, 1823: "Beginning at the

point where the Fourth principal meridian intersects the Illinois river; thence

up the middle of said river to where the line between Ranges 5 and 6 strikes

the said river; thence north with the said line between Ranges 5 and 6 east to

the township line between Townships 9 and 10 north; thence west with said line

to the Fourth principal meridian, thence south with said line to the place of

beginning; and all the rest and residue of the attached part of the county of

Pike east of the Fourth principal meridian shall be attached to, and be a part

of, the said county of Fulton until otherwise disposed of by the general

assembly." Chicago is referred to in this Act. 




Putnam county was created January

13, 1825, with the following boundary: "Beginning at the point where the

township line between Townships 11 and 12 north touches the Illinois river;

thence up the river to the south fork (Kankakee) thereof; thence up the said

fork to the line dividing this state from Indiana; thence up the said line to

the northeast corner of this state; thence west on the north boundary thereof

to the range line between Ranges 4 and 5 east; thence south on said range line

to the line between Townships 11 and 12 north; thence east to the place of

beginning." Putnam county was placed in the first judicial circuit.

Nothing in the Act was said about Chicago. 




"By one of the provisions of

the Act creating Peoria county, January 13, 1825. all the country north of that

county and north of the Illinois and Kankakee rivers, etc.. was attached to

Peoria county. No part of Cook county was ever in Peoria, but all of it was

once in Putnam at a time when all of it was attached to Peoria and when the

Peorians held the offices." 




"Peter Cartwright. of

Sangamon, for the committee on internal improvement, introduced in the House,

in 1828-9, a bill that bore no title. In making up the journal the clerk

entitled it — 'An Act forming the counties of Chicago. Pinckney and Brown.' It

was read twice, sent to the committee of the whole, and reported with

amendments, and then on motion of Jonathan H. Pugh, of Sangamon, was laid on

the table, where it remained. As originally drawn, 




the third section of the bill

would have created the county of 




with a boundary line running west

from the northeast corner of Township 41 north. Range 14 east, of the Third

principal meridian (in the lake near Evanston) to the northwest corner of

Township 41 north, Range 10 east (near the village of Harrington); thence south

(on the line between the towns of Palatine and Harrington) to the northwest

corner of Township 37 north (now in the northern boundary of Will county);

thence east to the northwest corner of Township 37 north, Range 11 east (one of

the Du Page-Will corners); thence south to the southwest corner of Township 35

north; thence east on the township line to the east line of the state; thence

north to Lake Michigan and along the state boundary to the place of beginning,

including and embracing the lands covered by the waters of the lake, being

within the jurisdiction of the state. In the original bill all the words

describing this county have been crossed out, and over them is pasted a slip,

evidently the amendment of the committee, which names this county

"Chicago." The bill attached to Chicago county considerable adjacent

territory. . . . It may be that the failure of this bill can be accounted for

by the fact that the Senate had passed, and the House was then considering,

though it took no final action upon, a bill for "An Act constituting the

county of Michigan," which county would have included all that part of the

state east of Fox river and north of the Illinois and Kankakee rivers." 




"During the first session of

the Seventh General Assembly, 18301831, there was presented to the House a

petition from Jo Daviess, Putnam, and the attached parts of Tazewell and Peoria

counties, asking the formation of a new county. Then Joel Wright of the Pike,

Adams, Fulton, Schuyler, Peoria and Jo Daviess district presented a petition

from the inhabitants in the neighborhood of Chicago in the county of Peoria

praying for a new county. On motion of John F. Posey of the Fayette, Bond,

Tazewell, Montgomery and and Shelby district, it was resolved that a select

committee be appointed to lay off all the country on the other side of the

Illinois river from Peoria county to Chicago into counties and to report by

bill. The committee was composed of Posey, Wright and Jonathan H. Pugh of

Sangamon. To the same committee was sent, on motion of Posey, after its second

reading, a bill introduced by Jacob Ogle of St. Clair for 'An Act to organize

the county of Columbia.' This select committee reported a bill for 'An Act to

create and organize the counties therein named,' which passed the House. It was

amended in the Senate, the House concurring, and became a law January 15, 1831.

It created Cook and La Salle, changed the boundaries of Putnam and added some

territory to Henry." 




"It was enacted by the first

section of this act, that the country within a line commencing at the Indiana

line where it intersects the line between Townships 33 and 34 north (in Will

county); thence west to the southwest corner of Township 34 north, Range 9

east, of the Third principal meridian (on the Grundy-Will line); thence north

to the northern boundary line of the state; thence east with said line to the

northeast corner of the state; thence southwardly along the state line to the

place of beginning, shall constitute Cook count)and the county seat shall be at

Chicago. The thirteenth section of this act attaches to Cook all the territory

north of Cook county and parallel with the lines of the same as far northwardly

as Rock river. This act gave Cook all its present territory, all of Du Page and

Lake, three miles now at the east end of McHenry and about two-thirds of

Will." 




"The original bill for the

'Act to create and organize the counties therein named' gave Chicago as the

name of the county formed by the first section. In the second section it is

provided that the boundary line of La Salle county shall begin at the southwest

corner of Chicago county. There is nothing on the original bill to indicate

when the name of this county was changed." — (The above quoted paragraphs

were contributed by William D. Barge, attorney, of Chicago, who has made an

elaborate and special study of early Cook county affairs.) 




"Notice is hereby given that

application will be made at the ensuing Legislature for the erection of a new

county, to be taken from the counties of La Salle, Cook and Iroquois, as at

present organized." — (Ottawa newspaper. July 24, 1834.) 




By act of January 12, 1836. Will

county was created with the following boundary: "Beginning at the

northwest corner of Township 37 north, Range 9 east, and running thence east to

the east line of Range 10, thence south six miles, thence east six miles,

thence south six miles, then east six miles, then south six miles, thence east

to the state line, thence south to the Kankakee and down the same to the north

line of Township 31, thence west to the west line of Range 9, thence north to

the place of beginning." As will be seen, this division cut away a

considerable portion of Cook county. 




By act of January 16, 1836,

McHenry county was created with the following boundary: "Beginning at a

point on Lake Michigan where the township line dividing Townships 42 and 43

strikes said lake, and running thence west along said line to the east line of

Range 4, east of the Third principal meridian, thence north to the northern

boundary line of the state, thence east to Lake Michigan; thence along the

shore line of said lake to the place of beginning." This cut off another

large slice from Cook county. 




"During the session of the

Tenth General Assembly, 1836-37, there was presented to the House a petition

from Cook, Will and Kane, praying the establishment of a new county, and it was

sent to a committee that was soon afterwards, at its own request, discharged

from consideration of the matter. Then John Naper, a county member, had the

petition sent to the committee on Internal Improvements, and he later

introduced and there was passed a bill for the formation of Michigan county,

which was approved March 2, 1837. It provided for the establishment of a county

of that name out of that part of Cook lying west of the line between Ranges 11

and 12 (all of the town of Lemont, the county of Du Page and the towns north of

it) if a majority of the voters in Cook at the election therein provided for

consented thereto, but they did not do this, so the act failed to have any

effect." — (William D. Barge.) "In 1838 a scheme to make four

counties out of Cook met with some favor, and committees were appointed and

meetings held to promote it. One county was to have nine townships out of the

northwest corner of Cook, and another (Du Page) immediately south of this was

also to have nine townships. A failure of the committee to meet at the

appointed time disconcerted the promoters, and the scheme failed." —

(Blanchard, History of Du Page County.) Several of the people of Cook sent to

the Senate of the Eleventh General Assembly, 1838-39, a petition praying that

the territory in the county within Range 9 (the towns of Barrington and

Hanover), and the west half of Range 10 (Palatine and Schaumberg), be annexed

to Kane county. The petition went to the standing committee and was never heard

of afterwards, possibly because the passage of the bill for the creation of the

county of Du Page might be considered as giving sufficient relief. That act was

passed upon petitions from Cook and Will for a new county, and was approved

February 9, 1839. It was not to become effective unless a majority in those

counties voting at the election therein provided for consented thereto. The

result of the election took from Cook county all of the present Du Page with

the following boundary: Commencing on the east line of Kane county at the

division line between Sections 18 and 19, in Township 37 north. Range 9 east,

of the Third principal meridian, pursuing the same line eastward until it

strikes the Des Plaines river; thence following the said river up to the range

line between Townships 11 and 12 east, of the Third principal meridian; thence

north on said line to the township line between Townships 40 and 41; thence west

on said line to the east line of Kane county; thence south on the east line of

Kane county to the place of beginning. 




An unsuccessful effort to create

a new county out of Cook and Will was made before the Twelfth General Assembly

in 1840-41. The people in Range 9 and the west half of Range 10 in Cook asked

the Thirteenth General Assembly. 1842-43, to annex that territory to Kane.

Others in Cook asked that the county be divided. Some wanted another county out

of Cook and McHenry, and others asked for a new county out of Cook and Will,

but all their efforts failed. Three hundred and twenty-five citizens of Cook

petitioned the Fourteenth General Assembly, 1844, for the formation of a new

county, and three hundred of Cook and Will asked for another county. Neither

petition accomplished anything". The next effort to divide the county was

made during the session of the Seventeenth General Assembly, 1851, and it

failed. 




"To the Voters of Cook

County: 




"The undersigned voters

residing in the territory now comprising the towns of Schaumburg, Palatine,

Barrington and Hanover beg leave respectfully to submit the following facts to

the consideration of the voters of Cook county, and in view thereof to appeal

to their magnanimity and sense of justice to allow the people of said towns to

be relieved from the inconvenience they now endure by detaching the said towns

from Cook county and adding them to Kane county. 1. — All legal and political

business of a county is generally transacted at the county seat. The average distance

from such towns, in a direct line to the county seat of Cook county, is about

thirty miles (by traveled route it is still more), while to the county seat of

Kane county it is only a distance of about sixteen miles — a difference in

distance in favor of Kane county of about one-half — and by public conveyance

the difference is still greater. 2. — Most of the business of Schaumburg and

Palatine and nearly all of Barrington and Hanover is now transacted in Kane

county. At Elgin and other points on Fox river our milling, mechanical

business, merchandising, etc., are done; our social relations and interests are

also mostly with the people of Kane county. 3. — The west line of Hanover and

Barrington is from half to one and a half miles east of Fox river, to which

river, as is usual in such cases, the trade and commerce of a belt of country

on either side thereof naturally tend; so that by the laws of trade as well as

socially the said towns ought to be attached to Kane county. Toward the people

of Cook county we entertain none other than friendly feelings, and were it not

for reasons enumerated above — evils to us arising solely from our peculiar

position — we should "never consent to a separation; but as things exist

our wants and inconveniences impel us to ask a separation, and in this manner

we earnestly solicit the voters of Cook county to be just — to do with us as

they, in a similar situation, would be done by. and vote for striking off said

town from Cook county, March 16, 1853. 




John Hill. Charles Merrifield.

Wm. McNamara. 




G. Rosenkearns. George E. Smith.

John Hammer. 




Luther Herrick. Simeon Drake. .

Terrence Ryan. 




John Herrick. ■ Nathaniel

Ballard. . C. J. Wiltzie. 




Artemas Grave. Samuel Gould. D.

C. Adams. 




Peter Bussett B. Morgan. S. S. Hammer. 




John F. Cook A. Leatherman. W.

Adams. 




O. B. Jerome. P. Hammond. H.

Wilmarth. 




Abel D. Gifford. A.

Spitzer. M. E. Johnson. 




Guy Adams. W. Woodworth. S. W.

Slaid. 




Benj. Adams. Cyrus Butterfields.

Alexander Jewell. 




L. Hill. Horace Adams. John

Guptail. 




A. H. Johnson. Ebenezer Colby. E.

E. D. Wood. 




Thomas S. Clark. T. Clark. Morgan

S. Johnson. 




John Hubbard. John K. Hubbard.

Daniel Leatherman. 




Charles B. Hawley. Daniel S.

Jenck. E. F. Colby. 




Henry Schierding. H. H. Gage. Cornelius

Jaquish. 




James Smith. A. Harwood. Lysander

Beverly. 




Richard Kelly. R. Y. Perry. S. W.

Kingsley. 




R. Nute. Isaac Thomas. William

James. 




J. H. Hawley. George T. Waterman.

N. Alvord. 




Jason Alvord. Chester Babcock.

Thomas De Wise. 




Simon Quick. R. H. Wiggins.

George Hammer. 




James Schoonhoven. James Jones.

Robert Gardner. 




George W. Waterman. S. R. Sabin.

Thomas Schoonhoven. 




Joseph R. Stebbins. Joseph Home. 




These petitioners secured the

passage of the Act to provide for annexin" certain towns in Cook county to

the county of Kane, approved February 12. 1853. and provision was made for a

vote upon the proposed transfer of those towns. To make the act effective there

was required a majority of all the votes in Kane and a majority of all those in

Cook who voted on the question. The change was not made. The bill for the act

was introduced in the House by Homer Wilmarth, of Cook. During the session of the

Eighteenth General Assembly, 1853. when the act last mentioned was passed,

efforts were made to establish a new county out of Cook and Will, and to form

one out of Cook, Will and Iroquois, and for one out of Will and Iroquois. There

was introduced in the Senate a bill for An Act to establish the county of

Columbia, and for other purposes therein named. It was read twice and sent to a

committee that was afterwards, upon its own request, discharged from further

consideration of the matter, and the bill was laid on the table and never taken

up. The act that created Cook originated in the House, and the honor of

selecting the name belongs to Samuel Alexander, of Pope county, a member of the

Senate, who, when the bill was pending there, secured the adoption of his

amendment striking out Chicago and inserting Cook. The name was chosen in honor

of Daniel Pope Cook. Auditor of Illinois Territory, Judge of the Territory,

Attorney General of the State and the first Congressman elected from the

State." — (Ford, History of Illinois: Davidson & Stuve. History of

Illinois; Reynolds, Pioneer History of Illinois.) 




Nathaniel Pope was chosen

territorial delegate to Congress in 1816. To his determination and efforts is

due the fact that Chicago is in Illinois and not in Wisconsin. To understand

the force of his argument. the condition of affairs at that time must be

considered. The Ordinance of 1787 fixed the northern boundary of Illinois on

the east and west line passing through the southern extremity of Lake Michigan,

thus giving the state no lake coast except at a single point. There were no

railroads in those days and it was not known that there ever would be. It was

thought that commerce would have to depend upon water for transportation and

that an eastern outlet for the shipments of products over the Great Lakes would

be of vital importance. Indiana had succeeded in having its northern boundary

extended ten miles to the northward, thus giving it considerable stretch of

lake coast. Michigan had left an abundance of coast and the new state to be

formed in the northwest (Wisconsin) would also be well supplied in this regard.

But Illinois had none. It had no outlet through the Great Lakes, but was

entitled to one and could only get it by having its boundary extended northward.

If the boundary were extended northward only ten miles it would come near

passing directly through Chicago and would cut in half and place in two states

the proposed canal sure to be built connecting Lake Michigan and the Illinois

river. The proper step to take, therefore, was to remove the northern boundary

far enough north to locate both Chicago and the proposed canal wholly and

surely within the State of Illinois. That was the logic of the situation. It

was sound and reasonable, and it Avon. The proceedings in Congress are

interesting. 




"The House resolved itself

into a Committee of the Whole on the bill to enable the people of Illinois

Territory to form a constitution and state government, and for the admission of

such state into the Union on a footing with the original states. Mr. Pope moved

to amend the bill by striking out the lines defining the boundaries of the new

state and to insert the following: 




"Beginning at the mouth of

the Wabash river; thence up the same and with the line of Indiana to the

northwest corner of said state; thence east with the line of the same state to

the middle of Lake Michigan; thence north along the middle of said lake to

north latitude 42 degrees 30 minutes; thence west to the middle of the

Mississippi river; thence down along the middle of that river to its confluence

with the Ohio river; and thence up the latter river along the northwestern

shore to the beginning." 




"The object of this

amendment, Mr. Pope said, was to gain for the proposed state a coast on Lake

Michigan. This would afford additional security to the perpetuity of the Union,

inasmuch as the state would thereby be connected with the states of Indiana,

Ohio, Pennsylvania and New York through the lakes. The facility of opening a

canal between Lake Michigan and the Illinois river, said Mr. Pope, is

acknowledged by everyone who has visited the place. Giving to the proposed

state the port of Chicago (embraced in the proposed limits) will draw its

attention to the opening of communication between the Illinois river and that

place, and the improvement of that harbor. It was believed, he said, upon good

authority, that the line of separation between Indiana and Illinois would

strike Lake Michigan south of Chicago and not pass west of it. as had been

supposed by some geographers who had favored us with maps of that country; and.

Mr. Pope added, that all the country north of the proposed state and bounded by

Lakes Michigan, Huron and Superior, and by the Lake of the Woods and the

Mississippi river, must form but one state, Congress being restricted by the

Ordinance of 1787 from erecting more than five states in the Northwest

Territory. This motion was agreed to without a division." The House

Committee to consider the Illinois bill were Messrs. Pope of Illinois, Claiborne

of Tennessee, Johnson of Kentucky, Spencer of New York, and Whitman of

Massachusetts. 




In January, 1850, when Nathaniel

Pope, judge of the District Court of the United States for the District of

Illinois, died, the bar of Chicago assembled and adopted suitable resolutions,

one of which was as follows: "Resolved, That we recur with high and

honorable pride to the period when, as a delegate in Congress from the then

Territory of Illinois, he successfully struggled to embrace within our

boundaries the land lying north of the southern border of Lake Michigan, which

in his wisdom he foresaw would be so necessary to the future greatness and

prosperity of the state." — (See Daily Democrat, January 26. 1850.) 




In December, 1828, there was laid

before Congress a petition of the inhabitants of Galena and vicinity to the

number of one hundred and eighty-seven, for the formation of a new territory to

be called Huron. They prayed "that the line passing through the

southernmost end of Lake Michigan to the Mississippi, as ordained by Congress

in 1787, be reestablished and made the line between that portion of the

territory northwest of the Ohio which they inhabit and the State of Illinois;

and that they be stricken off from the territory of Michigan and erected into a

separate territorial government with the following boundaries, to-wit:

Commencing where the line between the United States and Canada crosses Red

river of Lake Winnipeg; thence up said river to Lake Traverse and across the

portage to the Big Stone lake; thence in an easterly direction until it strikes

the Missouri river; thence down the middle of said river to the line of the

State of Missouri; thence along said line to the Mississippi; thence up said

river to where the line drawn through the southernmost end of Lake Michigan

west to the Mississippi intersects said river; thence due east along said line

to Lake Michigan; thence passing through the middle of said lake to its

northern extremity; thence along the line of the old Territory of Michigan to

Lake Superior to the line between the United States and Canada; and thence with

said line to the beginning." They prayed that the seat of government might

be established at Galena. 




In December, 1829, the House of

Representatives. Congress, considered the division of Michigan Territory, and

after ample discussion passed a bill to that effect by a large majority. The

new territory was to be called Huron and was to be located west of Lake

Michigan and north of Illinois and Missouri. At this time Michigan included all

the country north of Illinois and east of the Mississippi; over the territory

west of that river there was no government. The new territory was to be bounded

east by the center of Lake Michigan, north by Canada, west by the Missouri

river and south by Illinois and Missouri. 'Mr. Biddle presented a memorial of

the Legislative Council of the Territory of Michigan, playing that the

integrity of the territorial limits of the said territory may be preserved

inviolate; that no part of it may be annexed to the contemplated government of

Huron; and that no right or privilege whatever may be taken from Michigan as a

territory, which would have the effect to impair the future importance of

Michigan, as a state." — House Journal, second session, XXL Congress.) 




In December. 1829, a memorial

from the inhabitants of Michigan Territory west of Lake Michigan praying for a

division of the territory was presented to the House. About the same time,

also, a petition was received from the inhabitants of Michillimackinac praying

not to be included in the territory asked for above. The petitions were

presented by Joseph Biddle, delegate from Michigan Territory. At this time

(January 18, 1830), Mr. Duncan presented a petition from the inhabitants west

of Lake Michigan praying that the northern boundary of Illinois might be

established, and that a new territory might be created, etc. But the attempts

to change the northern boundary of Illinois and to form the Territory of Huron

were unsuccessful. The bills introduced in Congress, though meeting with some

favor, were permitted to die in committee rooms. 




In 1840 there was made an effort

to annex all northern Illinois to Wisconsin. James Duane Doty, Governor of

Wisconsin, favored the plan. He said in a letter addressed to the people of

Wisconsin, and dated October 30, 1840: "I hope no inducement which may be

held out by political expediency or respect for a government which has

attempted to infringe the rights of a state (Wisconsin) which had no voice in

her councils, will deter us from proceeding to frame a permanent government for

the state according to its constituted boundaries." He had before said.

January 19, 1840, in a letter addressed to several in northern Illinois:

"My doctrine has been, and still is, that if Congress saw fit to establish

more than three states in the territory northwest of the Ohio, the Ordinance of

1787 fixed definitely the northern boundary of the states bordering on the Ohio

river on a line drawn east and west through the southerly head or extreme of

Lake Michigan. It is, therefore, lawful for these (that is, those living north

of the line last aforesaid), to unite with the people who occupy the other

portion of the fifth state (now called Wisconsin Territory) to frame a state

government for themselves according to the articles of cession contained in the

Ordinance of 1787. This right is paramount to any act of Congress. The public

debt of Illinois is enough alone to alarm the property holders in every part of

the state, especially the industrious farmers. Justice, however, I think,

requires that provision should be made in the constitution of the new state for

the completion of the canal from Chicago to the state line, and also the

improvement of the navigation of Rock river, and the repayment of a fair

proportion of the expense incurred by Illinois upon these works. A proposition

so equitable I cannot but believe would be acceptable to Illinois, and the

course pursued by Wisconsin approved by the world." 




Many people in northern Illinois

preferred to remain with Wisconsin and favored the change of boundary. On July

6, 1840, a convention at Rockford, Ill., declared that the fourteen northern

counties in Illinois belonged to Wisconsin and proposed a convention to be held

at Madison in November of that year to fix the southern boundary of Wisconsin.

In 1842 the Territorial Governor of Wisconsin sent a committee to the Governor

of Illinois informing him that the Illinois jurisdiction over the frontier

counties was accidental and temporary. Much excitement ensued. Wisconsin was in

a state of ferment till admitted into the Union in 1848. Congress confirmed the

boundary of 1818. 




Northern Illinois was principally

settled from New York and New England. A little later Germans from Pennsylvania

came in; then Irish and other nationalities of Europe. On March 23, 1816, Mr.

Robertson, from the Committee on Public Lands (H. R.), reported a bill to

provide for the appointment of a surveyor for Illinois and Missouri

territories. On February 6, 1821. Illinois passed "An Act providing for

the running and marking the line dividing the states of Illinois and

Indiana." In establishing this line no notice was taken of the surveys of

the public lands, nor was the intersection of these public surveys with the

state line noted, so as to show the correct fractions and subdivisions of the

public lands on each side of the state line. In November, 1827, the Surveyor

General of Ohio, Indiana and Michigan Territory was instructed to connect the

surveys of the sections caused to be made fractional on each side of the state

line with the line itself. This direction was not complied with, whereupon the

same instructions were issued in December, 1828, to the Surveyor General at St.

Louis (for Illinois, Missouri and Arkansas), but he replied that no surveyor

could be found to do the work for the price allowed by law — three dollars per

mile — to retrace the old line and connect the public surveys with the state

line. So the lands could not be offered for sale. Hence the law of Congress to

relieve the situation. Mr. Clarke, of the Committee on Territories, reported a

bill in the House in January, 1830, for ascertaining the latitude of the

southerly bend or extreme of Lake Michigan, and of certain other points, for

the purpose thereafter of fixing the true northern boundary lines of the states

of Ohio and Illinois. 




Congress, in 1830, passed an act

granting preemption rights to settlers on public lands. Prior to January, 1831,

the plats and surveys of lands not yet offered for sale were not filed in any

land office. But the act of Congress required citizens with preemption rights

to any such lands to avail themselves of the provisions of the law previous to

the day appointed for the commencement of the sale of lands in the district,

which could not be done in the absence of the plats and surveys. So Illinois

asked that the preemption law be extended one year — or to January 1. 1831. In

1831 a new land district north of the line dividing Townships 21 and 22 north

of the base line and east of the Third principal meridian, including all that

part of the state to its northern boundary, was created, the office to be

located by the President. The Legislature in January, 1833, memorialized

Congress to grant preemption rights for two years after the enactment of the

law to actual settlers on the public domain. Congress passed an act on March 2,

1833, authorizing the President to cause the public surveys to be connected

with the line of demarcation between Indiana and Illinois. 




The Act of Congress of June 25.

1834. authorized the President "to cause to be sold all the lands in the

Northeast Land District of Illinois excepting only Sections 16 of each township

and individual tracts and government reservations." This Act placed the

Indian reservations in Cook county in the market. In 1834 the land offices in

Illinois were at Shawneetown, Kaskaskia. Edwardsville, Vandalia. Palestine.

Springfield. Danville and Quincy. A bill creating a surveyor general for

Illinois alone passed Congress early in 1835; before this for some time Illinois

and Missouri were united in the surveyor. 




"Custom, as well as the acts

of the general government, has sanctioned the location of settlements on the

unsurveyed public lands by granting them preemption rights to a sufficiency for

a small farm. Many of the settlers of the tract now offered and to be sold on

the 15th inst. came to the West and made their locations under the implied

pledge of the government by its past acts, that they should have a preference

and a right to purchase the lots on which they located when the same came into

market, and at a minimum price. We trust that strangers that come among us. and

especially our own citizens, will not attempt to commit so gross an act of

injustice as to interfere with the purchase of the quarter section on which

improvements have been made by the actual settler. We trust for the peace and

quiet of our town that these local customs will not be outraged at the coming

sale." We have been favored with the following amount of money received at

the Land Office in this place since the same was opened: Total $459,958.75 




"We

do not believe the records of any other land office will exhibit the receipts

of half this amount. But a small portion of the land in this district is still

in the market. Of that in the market scarcely an acre of good land remains for

entry. Facts like these show more conclusively than volumes of abstract

reasoning or indefinite statement the rapid advance of this section of our

state in wealth and population." — (Chicago Democrat, October 7, 1835.) 




"Notice. — The Commissioners

of the General Land Office have requested me to obtain information as to which

of the below named locations may interfere with settlements or preemption

rights. All persons having a settlement or preemption claim on any of said

locations are requested to make proof thereof without delay to this office,

stating the time of their settlement, extent of their improvement and

describing the tract, and attested in the usual manner. 




"Tames T. Whitlock, Reg. 




"Chicago, January 27,

1836." 




The Surveyor General of Illinois,

located at St. Louis, reported January 30, 1836, as follows: "First: In

the Northeast District of Illinois — with important exceptions, all that part

of this district which lies south of the old Indian boundary lines has been

surveyed and the extensive sale effected therein during the past season, in the

townships which were brought into market, fully sustained my reports of the

19th of November, 1833, and the 16th of December, 1834, in relation thereto,

and to the unsurveyed lands of the district I therefore again recommend that

all the exterior boundaries be surveyed; and that all the fractions adjoining

Lake Michigan, and as many other townships and fractional townships as will be

equal in the whole to about sixty entire townships, be subdivided, which gives

for this district: 




Township lines 1,056 miles 




Subdivisions of sixty townships

3,600 miles 




Meanders of the lake and

navigable rivers 300 miles 




Total 4,956 miles 




"This estimate includes the

surveys ordered by the letters from the General Land Office, dated the 5th of

August and the 14th of November, 1835." — E. T. Langham, Surveyor General,

Illinois and Missouri.) 




In

1821 the following portions were surveyed: Township 35, Range 13;Township 36,

Ranges 12, 13 and 14;Township 37, Ranges 11, 12, 13 and 14; Township 38, Ranges

12, 13 and 14; Township 39. Ranges 13 and 14; Township 40, Range 13; and

Township 41, Range 12. In 1828 the following: Township 42, Range 10. In 1834:

Township 35, Ranges 14 and 15; Township 36, Range 15; Township 37, Range 15;

Township 40, Range 14; and Township 41, Range 14. In 1837: Township 38, Range

15. In 1838: Township 42, Range 11. In 1839: Township 40, Ranges 12 and 13;

Township 41, Range 13; Township 42, Ranges 9, 12 and 13. In 1840: Township 41,

Ranges 9, 10 and 11. In 1843: Township 39, Range 12. In those cases where the

same territory was surveyed more than once, as in Township 40, Range 13, the

later survey was made because of inaccuracies in the first one. 




"In Illinois the office is

advised of the survey of ninety-eight townships and the fractional townships

embracing the whole of the Pottawatomie cession of October 20, 1832, and such

portions of the adjacent cessions as had not been surveyed, thus completing the

surveys in the Danville district and in the southern part of the Chicago

district. The whole of these surveys can be brought into the market next

spring. Instructions were given to the Surveyor General in August last, to have

that portion of the lands ceded by the treaty of 1833 and 1834 with the

Chippewa, Ottawa and Pottawatomie Indians, which is situated in Illinois, run

off into townships, and he has been since directed to subdivide those townships

into sections, preparatory to being brought into market." — (Chicago

Democrat, February 24, 1836.) 











EARLY COOK COUNTY AND

CHICAGO, 1779-1840




 




WITH the exception of the French

cabin at Lee's place, occupied by Father Marquette many years before, the Garay

(or Guarie) cabin or stockade on the North Branch at an early date, and a

possible fort or stockade here at a subsequent period, it seems clear that the

first resident of the present site of Chicago was a colored man named Jean

Baptiste Point De Saible, who lived here as early as 1779, as shown by the

following extract from a letter dated July 4, 1779, and written by Col. Arent

Schuyler De Peyster, a British commander at Michillimackinac: "Baptiste

Point De Saible, a handsome negro, well educated and settled at Eschikagou

(Chicago), but much in the French interest." His cabin was located on the

north bank of Chicago river near its mouth and near the point where it turned

south just before entering the lake. The fact that De Saible lived here is

still further verified by Augustus Grignon, of Wisconsin. Perish Grignon, brother

of Augustus, saw De Saible. here and said that he was large, a trader, pretty

wealthy and drank freely, and that he had a commission of some sort, probably

from the French government. In 1796 De Saible sold his cabin to a French trader

named Le Mai, from Peoria, who occupied it as a home and trading house until

1804. Chicago was referred to by William Burnett, an Indian trader of St.

Joseph, Michigan, in a letter dated May 14, 1786, and addressed to George

Mildrum, a merchant at Mackinac. Again, on May 6, 1790, he referred to this

place-. On August 24, 1798, he wrote saying that he expected a garrison would

be stationed at Chicago "this summer." Other references to Chicago

were made. It is probable, also, that an Indian trader named Guarie, as before

stated, lived on the west side of the North Branch before the year 1800.

Traders spoke of the North Branch as "River Guarie." 




In the summer of 1803, Capt. John

Whistler, stationed with his company of United States troops at Detroit, was

ordered to proceed to Chicago with his command and there to build a fort and

occupy the post thus established. The company came here by land under the

command of Lieut. James S. Swearingen. Captain Whistler, his wife, his two

sons, Lieut. William and George and the young wife of William went as far as

St. Joseph in the schooner "Tracy" and thence came to Chicago in a

row boat. Upon their arrival there were here, according to Mrs. Lieut. William

Whistler, but four Indian traders' huts or cabins — all occupied by Canadian

Frenchmen and their Indian wives, three of them being Le Mai, Ouilmette and

Pettell. In 1804 John Kinzie, then residing near Niles, Michigan, bought the Le

Mai property here, and with his wife and young son, John H., came on and

occupied the same. Gradually, as time passed, the old cabin was changed,

improved and extended until it became an attractive home for that period. The

house stood on the north side at the bend where the river turned south before

entering the lake. John Kinzie became known, and justly so, as "The Father

of Chicago." He came here as an Indian trader in the employ of the

American Fur Company, and in the end was much beloved by the Indians, whose

friend he was. In addition to his Indian trade, he became sutler for the

garrison in Fort Dearborn. No doubt the officers at Fort Dearborn were

concerned in the Indian trade. At times John Whistler, Jr., and Thomas Forsyth

were interested in lousiness with Mr. Kinzie. In the spring of 1812, in an

encounter. Mr. Kinzie killed John Lalime, Indian interpreter here. The officers

at the fort investigated the case and acquitted Mr. Kinzie — "justifiable

homicide." 




It is highly probable that from

1804 to 1812 the few log cabins here were occupied by traders. The Indian

outbreaks in 1812 broke up the little settlement, and after an absence of four

years Mr. Kinzie returned with his family and occupied his former residence —

probably in the Fall of 1816. He resumed his trade with the Indians, not as a

representative of the American Fur Company, but as an independent trader.

However, in 1818, he sent his son John to Mackinac to become an apprentice of

the American Fur Company. This company owned the only schooner on Lake

Michigan; it registered about forty tons and came here regularly with supplies

for the company's agency. Upon the arrival in 1818 of Gurdon S. Hubbard there

resided here two families — those of John Kinzie and Antdine Ouilmette, both

living on the North Side, the latter about two blocks west of the former.

Ouilmette was a French trader with an Indian wife and several half-breed

children. A trader named M. Du Pin lived here a little later. At this date

Captain Bradley was a commander at Fort Dearborn. Upon the formation of Pike

county in 1821, Mr. Kinzie was recommended for justice of the peace, but there

does not appear any record that he was commissioned at that date. He was one of

the sub-agents of the government when the treaty of August 29, 1821, was

concluded here with the Indians, having been appointed in 1816. The agency was

established in. 1804 and reestablished in 1816 when Charles Jouett became

agent, under whom Mr. Kinzie served. He was sub-agent under Dr. Alexander

Wolcott also and at the same time served as Indian interpreter. On July 28,

1825, Mr. Kinzie became justice of the peace at this point for Peoria county,

and the same year became agent of the American Fur Company. He died here

suddenly January 6, 1828. 




From the above it will be seen

that up to about the date of the death of John Kinzie Fort Dearborn was all of

Chicago, except the houses of Mr. Kinzie and a few French traders. Ellen Marion

Kinzie was born in the Le Mai house in December, 1804 — the first white birth

here. The half-breed children of several French traders, no doubt, had been

born here before. On July 20, 1823, she married Dr. Alexander Wolcott, Indian

agent — the first marriage in Chicago. 




Fort Dearborn was built during

the summer and fall of 1803 and was named for Gen. Henry Dearborn. It stood on

the south side of Chicago river at the point where the river turned southward

before emptying into the lake. It had two blockhouses. On the north side a

subterranean passage led from the parade ground to the river. The enclosure was

a heavy palisade of wood cut from the adjacent forests. On Dec. 31, 1803, there

were reported here at "Fort Dearborn, Ind. Ty." one captain, one

second lieutenant, one ensign, four sergeants, three corporals, four musicians,

fifty-four privates, and one surgeon's mate. The United States agency building

— a two-story log structure covered with split oak siding — stood a short

distance west of the fort, fronting on the river. There were here three pieces

of light artillery. Capt. Nathan Heald succeeded Captain Whistler as commander

in 1810. A settler, Charles Lee, had come here about 1804 with his family, and

had preempted a large tract at what afterward became Bridgeport. It became

known as "Lee's Place" or "Hardscrabble." Lee and his

family built a residence near the fort and were thus residents of Chicago very

early. Also before this date a family named Burns lived on the North Side west

of Ouilmette. The interpreter, John Lalime, and Mathew Irwin, United States

Factor, were here as early as 1811. Thus there lived here at the time of the

massacre of 1812 the families of Lee, Bums, Kinzie and Ouilmette, and the Lee

house at "Hardscrabble" was occupied by Mr. Lee's employees or

tenants. In 1817 Kinzie and Ouilmette occupied their former houses. Mr. Jouett

took possession of the Bums house — the Lee cabin at "Hardscrabble"

was occupied by John Craft as a trading house and the Lee residence near the

fort was owned and occupied by Jean Baptiste Beaubien, who had first come here

in 1804, but did not secure property until after the massacre, when he

purchased the Lee home a short distance south of the fort near the lake shore

and the cultivated tract of three acres adjacent. Late in 1812 Francis La

Framboise, a French trader, lived in a log hut on the South Side, near

Beaubien. The latter married for his second wife Josette, daughter of Francis

La Framboise. In 1815, in anticipation of the return of the garrison, John

Dean, an army contractor, built a house on the South Side, near the foot of

Randolph street. In 1817 the Dean house passed to Mr. Beaubien, who occupied it

for some time, but afterward converted it into a barn. In 1818 Mr. Beaubien

became agent of the American Fur Company at this point. The old United States

building just south of the fort was purchased first by Capt. Henry Whiting and

second by the American Fur Company about 1823, and later was sold to Mr.

Beaubien for $500. This was occupied by him as a home until 1840. 




In July. 1816, Capt. Hezekiah

Bradley, in command of two companies of infantry, arrived here under orders to

rebuild Fort Dearborn on the same site. Soon after this the Indian Agency was

resumed and settlers began to appear. The new fort was a square stockade,

within which were officers' quarters, barracks, magazine and provision house;

there were bastions at the northwest and southwest angles. A block house stood

in the southwest corner. The garrison was maintained here until 1823, when, not

being necessary, it was ordered away. Maj. Daniel Baker was commander from 1817

to 1820, when Capt. Hezekiah Bradley returned. In 1824 Maj. Alexander Cummings

took command, but the same year was succeeded by Lieut. Col. John McNeil, who

continued until 1827, when Capt. John Greene became commander. This was the

year when Archibald Clybourn arrived here permanently. In October, 1828. the

Indians again becoming troublesome, a garrison was sent here under the command

of Maj. John Fowle. They remained until May, 1831, when they were again ordered

away. Soon afterward, early in 1832, an Indian scare again brought a garrison —

this time under the command of Maj. William Whistler. On July 8, 1832, General

Scott arrived with a body of troops to assist in quelling the Indians. In May,

1833, Maj. John Fowle assumed command, but one month later was succeeded by

Maj. Lafayette Wilcox. Afterwards, until Aug. 1, 1836, Maj, John Bendu, Maj.

John Greene and Maj. Joseph Plympton commanded, but at that date the garrison

was permanently withdrawn. 




The Chicago government agency

embraced the Pottawatomies, Sacs. Foxes, Kickapoos, and Charles Jouett became

the first agent here in 1805. Mathew Irwin was factor from 1810 to the date of

the massacre. He reported that the total amount of business done here in his

department for the year 1810 was $4,712.57 and for the year 1811 was $6,055.89.

Jacob B. Varnum became factor in 1816, but could do little business owing to the

influx of British traders, who at the conclusion of the War of 1812 poured into

the United States, intent on monopolizing the valuable Indian trade. Later

these traders were thrown out of business by an order from the Secretary of

War. The factory was abandoned about 1823. Charles Jouett was again factor from

1815 to 1818. His residence and agency house stood on the North Side and

consisted of two large rooms. This house stood a short distance west of John

Kinzie's home. In 1816 a Mr. Bridges lived on the north bank between the Kinzie

and Jouett houses. James E. Herron and Henry Whiting were sutlers at Fort

Dearborn in 1821-22. A Doctor McMahon and Dr. John Gale were here as early as

1820. Dr. Alexander Wolcott, in 1820, succeeded Mr. Jouett as Indian agent, and

resided in the agency house, which stood near the foot of North State street

and was called "Cobweb Castle." The next year Doctor Wolcott, Indian

agent; J. B. Varnum, factor, and John Kinzie, sub-agent, signed the Indian

treaty concluded here. Doctor Wolcott on Dec. 26, 1827, became a justice of the

peace of Peoria county, of which the present Cook county was then an adjacency.

Col. Thomas J. V. Owen succeeded Doctor Wolcott as Indian agent late in 1830 or

early in 1831, and under him were Gholson Kercheval and James Stuart,

sub-agents. Connected with the agency were Billy Caldwell (Indian),

interpreter; David McKee, blacksmith, and Joseph Porthier, striker. It will be

seen that nearly all of the settlers here prior to 1830 were either connected

with the Government Agency, the American Fur Company, the Indian trade or the

garrison. Gurdon S. Hubbard was agent of the American Fur Company. The

trading-house at "Lee's Place," conducted after 1816 by John Crafts

for Messrs. Conant & Mack, merchants of Detroit, was very successful,

monopolizing most of the Indian trade owing to its advantageous location and to

the antipathy of the Indians against the government factories. In 1818 Jean B.

Beaubien became agent at Chicago for the American Fur Company and built a

trading house on the South Side near the foot of Madison street, and in the end

secured the trade of the Crafts house at "Lee's Place." W. H. Wallace

traded at the latter place after about 1822. Associated with Wallace was a man

named Davis. George Hunt was a trader at Wolf Point, or perhaps at "Lee's

Place." Nearly all of these men were connected with the American Fur

Company. Soon after 1825 the Indian trade at Chicago rapidly declined. 




Originally Chicago river, from

the forks to the lake, was about forty yards wide. Its present width is due to

dredging. Just before reaching the lake the river turned southward nearly to

the foot of the present Madison street. South of the Chicago river there were

two sloughs between the garrison and the Point, one at the foot of State

street. It ran a little north of the Sherman House, crossing Clark street near

the old post office, thence crossing Lake street nearly in front of the Tremont

House. The latter stood on on the northwest corner of Lake and Dearborn and as

late as 1834 sportsmen could shoot ducks in the slough from the door of the

Tremont House. The other slough entered the river at the foot of La Salle

street. The store built by P. F. W. Peck in 1831-32 at the southeast corner of

La Salle and Water streets was on the high point of land formed by the bend of

this slough. These sloughs were crossed on logs. Another small stream entered

the river on the North Side, west of Wells street. According to John H. Fonda,

of Prairie du Chien, Chicago contained about fourteen houses in 1825. During

this year what is now Cook county was attached to Peoria county, and so far as

known the first assessment at Chicago was levied by John L. Bogardus, assessor

of that county, as follows: 




 




Valuation        Tax




Beaubien                                               $1,000            $10




Clybourne, Jonas                                   625                 6.25




Clark, John K.                                       250                 2.50




Crafts., John                                          5,000              50




Clermont, Jeremy                                   100                 1




Coutra, Louis                                        50           0.50




Kinzie, John                                          500         5.00




Laframboise, Claude                              100         1.00




Laframboise, Joseph                              50           0.50




McKee, David                                       100         1.00




Piche, Peter                                           100         1.00




Robinson, Alexander                             200         2.00




Wolcott, Alexander                                572         5.72




Ouilmette, Antoine                                400         4.00




Total                                                     $9,047     $90.47




 




Of these, Clybourn and Clark

lived on the North branch where the rolling mills were later located; Crafts

lived with Beaubien; Clermont, Contra and Piche were traders and probably lived

near the forks; the Laframboise brothers were located at or near "Lee's

Place;" David McKee was the agency blacksmith, near Wolcott's, on the

North Side. Archibald Clybourn, half brother of John K. Clark and son of Jonas

Clybourn, came here first on Aug. 5, 1823. Later his father and family came on

and built two cabins on the North branch where the rolling mills afterward were

located. James Galloway arrived in 1826 and settled at

"Hardscrabble;" near them, southward, was another trader named Barney

Lawton. During 1827 and 1828 the Miller tavern was erected by Samuel Miller on

the North Side where the North branch joined the South branch; it was used as

tavern, store and residence. About the same time Wolf tavern was built at the

forks, but on the West Side; Elijah Wentworth occupied it in 1829. At the forks

also, but on the South Side, was a cabin used for a store by R. A. Kinzie and

David Hall; this no doubt was the building occupied later as a hotel by Mark

Beaubien. Rev. William See lived here at this time. In June, 1829, Archibald

Clybourn and Samuel Miller were authorized "by Peoria county to keep a

ferry near Wolf Point and to convey passengers across both branches and the

main river. They were taxed two dollars and were required to give bond with

security in the sum of $100. The Clybourns were butchers for the garrison, and

in fact for this whole region, at a very early date, especially during the Blackhawk

War in 1832. Mark Beaubien, brother of Jean B., came to Chicago in 1826. He

kept tavern on the South Side at the forks and later built the Sauganash Hotel,

an early frame house here. It stood at the southeast corner of Lake and Market

streets. It was named in honor of Billy Caldwell, the Indian chief, that being

his Indian name. Russell E. Heacock came here in July, 1827, but the following

year located on the Peter Lampsett claim about three-quarters of a mile south

of the lock at Bridgeport, or about a mile directly south of

"Hardscrabble." He was one of the first justices appointed in 1831;

he had been admitted to the bar before coming here. Alexander Robinson

(Che-che-pin-qua) was a voter here in 1825, 1826 and 1827, as shown by the records

at Peoria. 




For the year ending March 31,

1827, the net amount of postage at Chicago was so small that it was not

reported; Peoria reported $57 and Edwardsville $171.43. In 1829 James Thompson,

under authority of the state, came here to make an official survey of the site.

His map is dated April 4. 1830; there were then at least seven families outside

of the fort. 




In the House (Congress) on Jan.

27, 1830, on motion of Joseph Duncan, of Illinois, it was "Resolved, That

the Committee on Commerce be instructed to inquire into the expediency of

improving the harbor at Chicago, on Lake Michigan, in the State of

Illinois." On Feb. 10, 1830, Mr. Duncan moved the following resolution,

but it was laid on the table: "Resolved, That the Secretary of War be

requested to furnish this House with a survey and estimate for the improvement

of the harbor at Chicago, on Lake Michigan." But the following day it was

taken up and agreed to by the House. The matter was referred to the appropriate

committee as soon as the Secretary of War had furnished the matter desired. 




The first frame house in Cook

county was built in 1828 by the Government for Billy Caldwell, chief of the

Pottawatomies. It first stood on Superior street, where the Catholic church was

located, but later was moved to Indiana, west of Cass. 




Governor Bond in his message to

the first Legislature in 1818 brought the subject of the canal to the attention

of that body; and in 1822 his successor. Governor Coles, devoted considerable

space to the same topic. By the act of Feb. 14, 1823, a board of canal

commissioners was appointed. In the autumn of 1823 a portion of the Board with

Col. J. Post, of Missouri, as chief engineer, made a tour of inspection and in

the autumn of 1824 Col. P. Paul, of St. Louis, an engineer, was employed. Five

different routes were surveyed and estimates made of the costs; the highest

estimate was $716,110. In 1823 Sangamon river and Fulton county were the

northern limit of settlement. All north was a wilderness. But the people of the

south half of the state wanted water communication with New York via the Great

Lakes, and saw it could come to Chicago through the Erie canal (completed in

1825) and the Chicago canal. So they favored the law. It was their influence

that gave Illinois so much lake coast in 1818 when the north boundary was set

north. In January, 1825, the Illinois and Michigan canal was incorporated with

one million capital. The stock was not taken, so the act was repealed. In the

meantime the Illinois representatives and senators in Congress were urging

Congress to grant land for the purpose. Hon. Daniel P. Cook led in this

movement. On March 2, 1827, the act was passed, but, owing to the financial

stringency, nothing was done till Jan. 22, 1829, when the Legislature passed a

law. organizing a Canal Board. S. D. Lockwood came with the canal commissioners

in 1829; he said the residents of Chicago then were John Kinzie, who resided on

the North Side; Doctor Wolcott, who lived on the North Side, west of Kinzie,

and was the son-in-law of Kinzie; John Miller, who kept a "log tavern at

the Forks;" John B. Beaubien, on the South Side; and three or four Indian

traders living in log cabins on the West Side; these were in addition to the

officers and soldiers of the garrison, some of whom had wives and children. 




By act approved February, 1831,

it was made the duty of the superintending canal commissioner to ascertain

whether the Calamic (Calumet) would be a sufficient feeder for that part of the

canal between Chicago and Des Plaines rivers "or whether the construction

of a railroad is not preferable or will be of more public utility than a

canal." Should the said river be found sufficient, excavation on the canal

was ordered to proceed without delay. 




In June, 1831, pursuant to an

order of the Secretary of War, this post was abolished and the fort was left in

charge of Colonel Owen, government agent of the Pottawatomies, Ottawas and

Chippewas. In July, 1831, the schooner "Telegraph" arrived from down

the lake with supplies. By September the fort, the Kinzie home, the other

buildings and the hotels were filled with emigrant families. Late in September

Colonel Owen paid the Indian annuities. The whites while the Indians were drunk

stole a large share of what they had received. In November, 1831, the schooner "Marengo,"

owned by Oliver Newberry, of Detroit, arrived with supplies. She could not

enter the river, but anchored in the lake and rode out the storm that was

brewing. Later small boats brought her cargo ashore. Captain Stuart commanded

the "Marengo." 




During the winter of 1831-32,

nearly all families here lived within the fort and were furnished with supplies

by George W. Dole, whose store was within the enclosure. Another store was

conducted by R. A. Kinzie at Wolf Point, where the river forked. There were no

mail routes, post roads nor post offices. Every two weeks a half-breed Indian

was sent to Niles, Michigan, for the mail, covering the distance on foot and

consuming a week. Of course the arrival of the mail was an event of great

interest. During the Winter a debating society was organized with J. B.

Beaubien as president. An occasional dance and a religious meeting once a week

were about the only diversions. Mark Noble, Jr., his wife and his two daughters

and Mrs. R. J. Hamilton were Methodists; the latter was the mainstay of that

church here. 




Gurdon S. Hubbard came here in

October, 1818. He was an Indian trader. In the Fort Dearborn preemption suit he

testified as follows: "From the piazza of the Kinzie house we could look

directly down the river about half way to the mouth, where the view was

obstructed by a bank. The mouth was about where Madison street now is. The

mouth was a shifty one; it gradually went farther south. At one time it went

down as far as where the Illinois Central roadhouse now is, about a mile and a

half from the fort. It was then so small that we could hardly get our boats

through. I should say that the mouth at Madison street was the permanent mouth.

We used to hunt foxes on the bar. The foxes were caught in the woods and fed

and got in condition at the fort. On festival days they were taken to the upper

end of the sand bar and loosed, when the dogs were put on them and they were

chased in the sand. There was land enough to make the sport entertaining. The

bar was about two hundred feet wide, but ran off to a mere spit at the end.

Lots 24 and 25 in Kinzie's addition would strike the center of the river.

Should say the Kinzie house was on Lot 23. It was in the fall of 1828 that the

bar extended down to the pine trees about one and one-half miles. In 1831 the

mouth of the river was not far from Wright's place. In 1828 or 1829 the channel

was dug across the bar where it now is by the commanding officer of Fort

Dearborn. It soon was a deep channel, but afterwards filled up again. At no time

did the channel form itself. The effect of the piers was to cause the washing

away of the sand bar and the increasing of land north of the piers. The river

at its mouth was navigable immediately after crossing the bar. At the mouth we

could ride a horse across and sometimes we had difficulty in getting into it

with Mackinac boats. There were no houses on the sand bar in 1834. There were

some shanties put on the bar in 1835, which were carried off by a gale of wind

that fall. The sand bar at the upper end. opposite the old fort, was from three

to five feet high, gradually diminishing toward the south. The surface was

unequal. No vegetation was on the bar. I was here in the spring and fall for

periods of from four to six weeks — 1818 to 1825. The commandant at the fort. I

think, cut across the bar in 1822; but it blocked up. It was cut through again

in 1829 by men from the fort. In 1829 it took us not over two hours to cut a

line to let water into the lake from the river, and then the river cut its way

in two hours to admit batteaux — was five feet deep by morning — high water

mark where the piers now are — no one here to do it but from the fort. They

used to receive supplies from a small schooner, forty or fifty tons (chartered

by the Government), once a year. That schooner with traders' boats was all the

marine of Lake Michigan. The boat passed through the cut from the fort in 1829

merely to test its capabilities. I have seen the river outlet as small as a

mere ripple — could step across it in 1828 and have seen it with only six

inches of water, though perhaps a hundred feet wide — think vessels loaded off

Madison street, and we went out in scows to get goods. We would take goods out

and lift boats over — have seen the sea make completely over the bar into the

river at points of depression — went over in 1827 and 1828 at foot of Randolph

street. John H. Kinzie took a boat and went out to take myself and friends from

the vessel. On going out they dragged the boat over the bar — coming back we

jumped the bar." Richard J. Hamilton's testimony: "Came to Chicago in

April, 1831; never saw any of the fox chases on the sand bar; cabins were built

on the bar in 1836 and 1837." John W. Strode's testimony: "Came here

in August, 1836; was here several days in 1831; there were then only seven or

eight houses outside of the garrison." George W. Dole's testimony:

"Came here in May. 1831 — was clerk of Oliver Newberry — was on the sand

bar often — we entered the river in a yawl boat from a schooner — went out in a

scow to get goods from vessels — used setting poles in the channel — was in the

garrison from May, 1831. to June, 1832 — then lived at the corner of Decatur

and South Water streets — had my store there — one of the cabins on the bar

belonged to George E. Walker — Hardscrabble was afterward called

Bridgeport." William Brewster's testimony: "Came here first in 1818 —

staid two or three weeks — came by land and stopped at the Kinzie house — was

here in September, 1833, at the time of the treaty — had occasion to pass out at

the mouth of the river — have seen it not more than six or eight inches in

depth, varying with the wind." Alexander Robinson's, a Pottawatomie

chief's, testimony: "Came to Chicago about 1815 — knew the Kinzies well —

for seventeen years past have lived twelve miles from Chicago — till then lived

at the forks of the river for eight or nine years — was an interpreter four or

five years." In 1829 the Legislature authorized the canal commissioners.

Dr. Gershom Jayne of Springfield, Edmund Roberts of Kaskaskia and Charles Dunn

of Pope, "to locate the canal, lay out towns, sell lots and apply the

proceeds to the construction of the canal." They sent here James Thompson,

who surveyed and platted what afterwards became known as the "Original

Town of Chicago," locating it on Section 9. Township 39 north. Range 14

east. It extended from State to Desplaines and from Madison to Kinzie. The plat

is dated August 4, 1830. Colbert's "directory" thus summarized the

town at this date: Taverns — Elijah Wentworth, west of the river near the fork;

Samuel Miller, north of the river at the fork; Mark Beaubien, south of the

river and east of the South fork. Indian Traders — Robert A. Kinzie, near

Wentworth's tavern; Leon Bourisso, just south of Beaubien's tavern; a log

trading house near the foot of North Dearborn street; J. B. Beaubien, just

south of the fort. Butcher — Archibald Clybourn of the North branch, about two

miles from Wolf Point and west of the stream. James Kinzie, Rev. William See

and Alexander Robinson and their families resided on the West Side near

Wentworth's tavern. David McKee and Billy Caldwell were on the North Side near

"Cobweb Castle," which was then vacant. Gholson Kercheval, Dr. E.

Harmon and James Harrington were also here. At an election held at the house of

James Kinzie on August 2, 1830, this, the First election precinct of Peoria

county, polled the following vote: Jonathan N. Bailey (first postmaster) lived

in part of old Kinzie house; John B. Beaubien, Medore B. Beaubien moved to

Kansas; Leon Bourassea (Bourisso); James Brown; Billy Caldwell (Indian chief);

Jean Baptiste Chevalier; John L. Davis, a tailor, moved to Milwaukee; Russell

E. Heacock lived near Hardscrabble; John S. C. Hogan; James Kinzie, see

elsewhere; B. H. Lawton or Laughton lived at what is now Riverside; Joseph

Laframboise, a Frenchman with an Indian wife; Stephen Mack, clerk of the

American Fur Company; John Mann; Daniel McKee, agency blacksmith, moved to

Aurora; Alexander McDale; Rev. William See, blacksmith also; Stephen J. Scott;

Joseph Thibeaut; Daniel Van Eaton; Rev. Jesse Walker, from Peoria, in

missionary work; Peter Frique; Mark Beaubien; Laurant Martin; Jean Baptiste

Secor; Joseph Banskey; Michael Welch; Francis Ladusier; Lewis Ganday; Peresh Le

Clerc, Indian interpreter. 




Wolcott's addition on the North

Side was bought in 1830 for $130; in 1854 it was valued at $250,000. Walter L.

Newberry bought forty acres of Thomas Hartzell in 1853 for $1,062; in 1854 it

was valued at $500,000, and Mr. Newberry still owned the most of it. On it was

Newberry's addition. In 1834 half of Kinzie's addition, all of Wolcott's

addition and all of Block 1 of the Original Town were sold for $20,000; in 1854

they were valued at $3,000,000. Every foot of land showed a proportionate

increase at the latter date. 




Ellen Hamilton, daughter of

Richard J., was born in Fort Dearborn early in 1832. At this date, Elijah

Wentworth and family lived in a log house owned by James Kinzie and kept tavern

there. James Kinzie was here with his family, also William See and family, and

Alexander Robinson and family. On the North Side was Samuel Miller and family,

and with them was John Miller, a brother. East of the South branch, at the

forks, was Mark Beaubien and family, who kept tavern; above him. on the youth

branch, was Bourisso, an Indian trader. Between Mark Beaubien and the fort — on

the South Side — there were no houses except a small log cabin near the foot of

Dearborn and used as an Indian trading house. Near the garrison and south was

J. B. Beaubien's family, connected with the American Fur Company in the Indian

trade; near his residence was his store; farther south was a house then

unoccupied. On the North Side, opposite the fort, was the Kinzie home; farther

west, on the North Side, was what had been the government agency house.

"Cobweb Castle." Dr. Wolcott had died there the fall of 1830 and had

occupied this place, but it was now vacant. In its vicinity were several log

buildings for a blacksmith, an interpreter and others of the agency— the

blacksmith, David McKee, and Billy Caldwell, head chief of the Pottawatomies,

Ottawas and Chippewas. He was interpreter. Col. Thomas J. V. Owen succeeded

Doctor Wolcott as Indian agent, but had not yet arrived. Gholson Kercheval was

a sub-agent. Dr. E. Harmon and James Harrington were here and were making

claims on the lake shore. About twelve families in all lived here in the Spring

of 1831. 




The two schooners

"Telegraph" and "Marengo," which arrived here in 1831, came

loaded with emigrants, the preemption law being the inducement. The former came

from Ashtabula, Ohio, and the latter from Detroit. The first deed on record

from Governor Reynolds to Robert Kinzie, assignee of B. B. Kercheval, conveyed

Lots 5 and 6, Block 29, Original Town, for $109; it was recorded on December 2,

1831. by R. J. Hamilton. Wolf Point was on the West Side at the juncture of the

two branches of the river. In 1831 there was considerable rivalry between the

"Point" and the "Lower Town." near the fort. P. F. W. Peck,

who had come here first in 1831. opened a store in the Miller building on the

North Side at the juncture, but in the Fall of 1832 erected a frame building on

the southeast corner of South Water and La Salle streets. Lumber was brought

here from Plainfield. forty miles southwest. 




The important questions at

Chicago during the first six years of the organization of the county were the

following: Post office, land office, a newspaper started, formation and

organization of the county, with Chicago the county seat, war of 1832. first

work of the harbor, first vessel over the bar, packing trade, schools and

religious societies, sale of school lands, disposal of wharf rights,

incorporation of Chicago, first work on the canal, drawbridges, stage line to

the interior, land and lot speculation, immense travel of emigrants, pork

packing, corporate limits bounded by State to Desplaines and Madison to Kinzie

— about three-eighths of a square mile. 




Upon the organization of Cook

county, Mark Beaubien gave a bond for $200 for his ferry license. and agreed to

carry free all residents of the county; he used a scow that cost him $65. In

1831 a wooden bridge that cost $486.20 was built across the North branch at

North Water street; that amount was raised by popular subscription. About the

same time another was built across the South branch, about half way between

Lake and Randolph streets. The Pottawatomies subscribed $200 toward this

bridge. In the Fall of 1831 there were seven taverns — that number being filled

constantly with the numerous settlers and travelers. Wolves were were numerous

and visited all parts of the town at night. The Indians were threatening; in

May, 1832, there were five hundred persons in the fort. Upon the organization

of Cook county in 1831 Richard J. Hamilton became county clerk and recorder,

and later judge of probate, treasurer and commissioner of schools. The first

post office was established in the spring of 1831, with Jonathan N. Bailey

postmaster. 




In 1832 the schooner

"Austerlitz" brought from Detroit one hundred barrels of coarse and

120 barrels of fine salt — received by Newberry & Dole, and the same year

the schooner "Napoleon" brought forty-one barrels of fine salt from

Detroit. In 1835 Doctor Wheeler bought all the salt here and after navigation

closed sold it at $8 per barrel. In 1852 the salt receipts were 92,907 barrels;

in 1858 they were 333,983 barrels. 




"At a meeting of the

citizens of Chicago, convened pursuant to public notice given according to the

statute for incorporating towns, Thomas J. V. Owen was chosen president and E.

S. Kimberly was chosen clerk. The oaths were administered by Russell E.

Heacock, a justice of the peace for Cook county, when the following vote was

taken on the proposition of incorporating the town of Chicago, county of Cook,

State of Illinois: For incorporation, John S. C. Hogan, C. A. Ballard, G. W.

Snow, R. J. Hamilton, J. T. Temple, John Wright, G. W. Dole, Hiram Pearsons,

Alanson Sweet. E. S. Kimberly, T. J. V. Owen, Mark Beaubien — 12. Against

incorporation, Russell E. Heacock — 1. We certify the above poll to be correct.

(Signed) T. J. V. Owen, President. 




Ed. S. Kimberly, Clerk." 




This election record was not

dated, but Mr. Kimberly afterward said it was held about twenty days before the

election. 




On August 10 the election of

Trustees was held, with the following result: T. J. V. Owen, 26 votes; George

W. Dole, 26 votes; Madore B. Beaubien, 23 votes; John Miller, 20 votes; E. S.

Kimberly, 20 votes. On the 12th, at its first meeting, the board elected

Colonel Owen president and appointed Isaac Harmon clerk. In September, 1833,

George W. Dole was appointed town treasurer; Charles H. Chapman was appointed

ferryman. On November 6 the town limits were made to embrace the following

tract: Bounded south by Jackson street; west by Jefferson and Cook; north by

Ohio; east by the lake on the north side and by State street on the south side.

In November Benjamin Jones was appointed street commissioner, and in December

George Snow assessor and surveyor, and John Dean Caton town counsel 
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